Clinical Practice Guideline:  Date of Implementation:  Product:	Laser Therapy (LT)	
	February 9, 2006	
	Specialty	
Table of Contents		
GUIDELINES		
DESCRIPTION		
GENERAL BACKGROUND		
EVIDENCE REVIEW		
Joint Pain and Osteoarthritis (OA)		
Shoulder Pain		
Carpal Tunnel Syndrome		
Myofascial Pain	.1	
Low Back Pain	.1	
Neck Pain	.1	
Achilles Tendinopathy		
Plantar Fasciitis		
Lateral Epicondylitis		
Rheumatoid Arthritis		
Temporomandibular Joint Dysfunction	on (TMJ or TMD)	
Wound Healing		
Oral Mucositis	2	
Musculoskeletal Conditions		
Other	3	
U.S. Food and Drug Administration (	FDA)	
PRACTITIONER SCOPE AND TRAIN	NING	
References		
GUIDELINES		
- ·	ered medically necessary for prevention of oral mucosit	
	eatment associated with increased risk of oral mucositicadiotherapy, and/or hematopoietic cell transplantation.	

Low-level laser therapy (LLLT) is considered unproven for all other indications, including but not limited to:

- Wound healing
- Musculoskeletal pain; (e.g., back and neck pain, carpal tunnel syndrome, lateral epicondylitis, shoulder impingement, myofascial pain syndrome, fibromyalgia, and others)
- Osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis
- Temporomandibular joint disorders

8 9 10

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

High-power Class IV therapeutic laser light therapy or similar therapeutic laser light therapy is considered unproven for all indications.

11 12

CPT/HCPCS Code	CPT/HCPCS Code Description
97037	Application of a modality to 1 or more areas; low-level laser therapy (i.e., nonthermal and non-ablative) for post-operative pain reduction.
S8948	Application of a modality (requiring constant provider attendance) to one or more areas; low-level laser; each 15 minutes

13 14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

2324

25

26

Patients must be informed verbally and in writing of the nature of any procedure or treatment technique that is considered experimental/investigational or unproven, poses a significant health and safety risk, and/or is scientifically implausible. If the patient decides to receive such services, they must sign a Member Billing Acknowledgment Form (for Medicare use Advance Beneficiary Notice of Non-Coverage form) indicating they understand they are assuming financial responsibility for any service-related fees. Further, the patient must sign an attestation indicating that they understand what is known and unknown about, and the possible risks associated with, such techniques prior to receiving these services. All procedures, including those considered here, must be documented in the medical record. Finally, prior to using experimental/investigational or unproven procedures, those that pose a significant health and safety risk, and/or those considered scientifically implausible, it is incumbent on the practitioner to confirm that their professional liability insurance covers the use of these techniques or procedures in the event of an adverse outcome.

272829

30

31

32

### **DESCRIPTION**

This guideline addresses low-level laser therapy (LLLT), also referred to as cold laser therapy, low-power laser therapy (LPLT), low-intensity laser and low-energy laser therapy and high-power Class IV therapeutic laser light therapy.

This guideline does not address surgical lasers, which involve vaporizing tissue with hot lasers.

#### GENERAL BACKGROUND

Laser or low-level laser therapy (LLLT) has been proposed as a modality used to accelerate and optimize the tissue repair process (Rocha et al., 2007). Laser stands for Light Amplification by Stimulated Emission of Radiation. LLLT is theoretically applied to photoactivate cellular mechanisms, leading to healing and normalization of tissue. The proposed result is reduced pain, inflammation, swelling, and accelerated tissue repair. Therapeutic lasers emit low-energy density but high enough to stimulate target cells with energy. Laser radiation is thought to be absorbed through cytochromes in the mitochondria and converted into ATP by the cell which acts to synthesize protein, mRNA and DNA, and accelerate cell proliferation based on the tissue receiving the light energy (Reddy 2004; Enwemeka et al., 2004).

In 2004, U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved a higher power, Class IV therapeutic laser, for the safe and efficacious reduction of pain. Also called photobiomodulation, Class IV laser light therapy produces 7,500 milliwatts of continuous power. It is administered with a handheld device and is thought to provide deeper penetration over a larger surface area. According to the manufacturer, Diowave (formerly Avicenna Laser Technology, Inc): the Class IV therapeutic laser technology is used as a stand-alone modality to produce increased circulation, decreased inflammation, relaxation of muscle spasms and trigger points, accelerated tissue repair, and decreased pain at tissue sites previously unreachable by low-level stimulation. They are purported to stimulate accelerated healing energy from superficial to deep levels and a larger surface treatment area. Its proposed use includes conditions such as arthritis, carpal tunnel syndrome, epicondylitis, sprains/strains, trigger points and various other musculoskeletal disorders.

LLLT may be administered by several different types of providers, including physicians, chiropractors, physical therapists, or occupational therapists. It is generally provided in an office or other outpatient setting with no anesthesia or sedation needed.

#### **EVIDENCE REVIEW**

There are numerous randomized trials on various applications of LLLT and some show positive results. However, it is difficult to interpret these results because these studies include a wide range of conditions and methods of application, and because of the varied characteristics of the laser instruments utilized. As such, it is difficult to come to any general conclusions regarding the effectiveness of LLLT. In 2006, the World Association of Laser Therapy (WALT) established effective parameters and methods of application as a guideline for investigators to follow. These guidelines state that power densities below 100 mW/cm2 should be used for superficial tendons with an energy dose range of 1-8 Joules. For deeper tendons of the rotator cuff, power densities can go as high as 600

mW/cm2, with an energy dose of 3-9 Joules. Wavelengths should be in the range of 780-904 nm. These guidelines allow researchers to selectively analyze studies that fall into these parameters to evaluate effectiveness (WALT, 2006).

3 4 5

6

7

1

2

#### Joint Pain and Osteoarthritis (OA)

Several systematic reviews have been published regarding LLLT for treatment of joint pain and osteoarthritis. In general, they are inconsistent in the findings and do not substantiate the effectiveness of this treatment for these conditions.

8 9 10

11

12

13

14

15

16

Bjordal et al. (2003) performed a systematic review that included 7 randomized, placebocontrolled trials where an adequate dose of laser therapy was applied to a chronic joint disorder. These authors found a weighted mean difference of 29.84 mm on the pain visual analog scale (VAS) following laser treatment for knee pain, temporomandibular pain, or zygapophyseal joints. They concluded that LLLT significantly reduces pain and improves health status in chronic joint disorders when parameters are within the suggested dose range. However, the review also notes that the results should be cautiously interpreted due to the heterogeneity in patient samples, treatment procedures, and trial design.

17 18 19

20

21

22

A systematic review of rehabilitative interventions was conducted to assess various rehabilitative interventions on pain, function, and physical impairments in hand osteoarthritis (Ye et al., 2011). There were 2 studies included in the review that addressed LLLT. It was found that there was no effect on pain with LLLT, but it may be useful for improving range of motion.

232425

26

27

28

29

30

A systematic review of conservative interventions for osteoarthritis of the hand concluded that there is moderate evidence that low-level laser therapy is no better than placebo in improving hand function or decreasing hand pain or stiffness (Valdes and Marik, 2010). An overview of systematic reviews for physical therapy interventions for knee osteoarthritis (OA) did confirm moderate evidence to support the effectiveness of low-level laser therapy for knee OA (Ottawa Panel Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines, 2004; Jamtvedt et al., 2008).

313233

34

35

36

37

38

In a systematic review, Jang and Lee (2012) investigated the clinical effectiveness of LLLT on joint pain. Twenty-two trials were included involving 1,014 patients. Eleven trials were positive and 11 were negative. The change in pain ratings was in favor of the active LLLT groups. In trials where the WALT guidelines were followed, the mean effect sizes were in favor of the true LLLT groups. This review supported the use of laser therapy for reduction of joint pain, especially when restricting the energy doses to the ranges stated in WALT guidelines.

39 40 41

42

Huang et al. (2015a) investigated the efficacy of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) treatment of knee osteoarthritis (KOA) by a systematic review with meta-analyses on selected

studies. Nine studies included were randomized controlled trials (RCTs) written in English 1 that compared LLLT (at least 8 treatment sessions) with sham laser in KOA patients dated 2 from January 2000 to November 2014. No significant difference was identified in studies 3 conforming to the WALT recommendations (4 studies) or on the basis of OA severity. 4 There was no significant difference in the delayed response (12 weeks after end of therapy) between LLLT and control in VAS pain (5 studies). Similarly, there was no evidence of 6 LLLT effectiveness based on Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Arthritis Index (WOMAC) pain, stiffness, or function outcomes (5 and 3 studies had outcome data right 8 after and 12 weeks after therapy respectively). Authors concluded that their findings indicated the effectiveness of LLLT for patients with KOA is not supported based on the 10 best available current evidence.

11 12 13

14

15

16

17

18

19 20

21

5

7

9

Dima et al. (2017) presented a summary of the possible pain management benefits of LLLT. It has been seen to produce pain relief and fibroblastic regeneration in clinical trials and laboratory experiments. LLLT has also been seen to significantly reduce pain in the acute setting; it is proposed that LLLT is able to reduce pain by lowering the level of biochemical markers and oxidative stress, and the formation of edema and hemorrhage. Many studies have demonstrated analgesic and anti-inflammatory effects provided by photobiomodulation in both experimental and clinical trials. Authors concluded that based on current research, the utilization of LLLT for pain management and osteoarthritic conditions may be a complementary strategy used in clinical practice to provide symptom management for patients suffering from osteoarthritis and chronic pain.

22 23 24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32 33

34

35

Alfredo et al. (2018) assessed the long-term effects of LLLT in combination with strengthening exercises in patients with osteoarthritis of the knee. Forty participants of both genders aged 50-75 years, with knee osteoarthritis participated in the study. The LLLT group received 10 LLLT treatments with invisible infrared laser (904 nm, 3 Joules/point) over three weeks followed by an eight-week supervised strengthening exercise program. The placebo LLLT group received identical treatment, but the infrared laser output was disabled. The new data obtained during the follow-up period showed that all outcomes remained stable and there were no significant differences between the groups at three and six months. However, daily consumption of rescue analgesics was significantly lower in the LLLT group throughout the follow-up period, ending at a group difference of 0.45 vs. 3.40 units (P < 0.001) at six months follow-up. Authors concluded that within the limitations of this small study, the previously reported immediate post-intervention improvement after LLLT plus exercise was maintained for a period of six months.

36 37 38

39

40

41

42

Song et al. (2020) performed a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials to assess the effectiveness of high-intensity laser therapy (HILT) in patients with knee osteoarthritis. Six randomized controlled trials were included in this meta-analysis. For VAS pain, 334 patients from four studies showed that HILT significantly decreased pain compared to the control. HILT significantly improved WOMAC stiffness and function compared to the control. Authors concluded that the effectiveness of HILT on pain, stiffness, and function in patients with knee osteoarthritis is promising. However, due to the limited number of studies, further randomized controlled trials with large, well-designed samples are needed.

Cantero-Téllez et al. (2020) examined the effects of high-intensity laser therapy (HILT) on pain sensitivity and motor performance in patients with thumb carpometacarpal (CMC) osteoarthritis (OA). Forty-three patients (mean  $\pm$  SD age =  $71 \pm 12$  years) with a diagnosis of thumb CMC OA grade 1-2 were randomized to the control group (N = 21) or experimental group (N = 22). The experimental group received high-intensity laser therapy (HILT), and the control group received a placebo treatment. The outcome measures were pain intensity (visual analog scale) and key pinch strength measurements (dynamometer). All outcome measures were collected at baseline, immediately following the intervention, at 4 weeks, and at 12 weeks following the intervention. Authors reported that HILT effectively diminishes pain intensity when used as an isolated treatment for patients with thumb CMC OA, but the effect of treatment decreases after 12 weeks.

Ahmad et al. (2022) examined the effects of LLLT or HILT combined with rehabilitation exercise (LLLT+E or HILT+E) on pain, stiffness, and function in KOA. Of the 10 retrieved studies, 6 investigated LLLT+E, three on HILT+E, and 1 evaluated both. All the studies had high PEDro scores. However, as most of the studies employed a single type of laser therapy, only indirect comparison of LLLT+E and HILT+E was possible. This study found all treatment modalities were effective in reducing KOA symptoms. Interestingly, relative to control, the meta-analysis showed significant improvements in knee pain, stiffness, and function for the HILT+E. Authors concluded that both LLLT and HILT are beneficial as adjuncts to rehabilitation exercise in the management of KOA. Based on an indirect comparison, the HILT+E seems to have higher efficacy in reducing knee pain and stiffness, and in increasing function. To confirm this finding, a direct comparative investigation of the two types of laser therapy may be necessary.

Malik et al. (2023) investigated the effectiveness of LLLT plus exercise therapy (ET) on pain, ROM, muscle strength, and function in KOA immediately after therapy and sought to determine whether the effectiveness of LLLT plus ET could be sustained at follow-up (4 - 32 weeks) in a systematic review. Of the 6,307 articles, 14 RCTs (820 patients) met the inclusion criteria. The results demonstrated that there was a significant difference in pain immediately after therapy and at follow-up in LLLT plus ET group. There were no significant differences in knee ROM, muscle strength, and knee function outcomes immediately and at follow-up. Authors concluded that their findings indicate that LLLT plus ET could be considered to alleviate pain in the KOA. LLLT reduces pain at 4-8J with a wavelength of 640-905nm per point applied for 10-16 sessions at a frequency of 2 sessions/week. An exercise therapy program at prescribed dosage involving major muscle

groups might help. However, LLLT plus ET is no more effective than placebo LLLT plus ET in improving ROM, muscle strength, and function in KOA.

Oliviera et al. (2024) investigated the effects of photobiomodulation (PBM) in patients with knee osteoarthritis, comparing with placebo to understand its true clinical effects. Ten studies were included comprising 542 participants. All studies were judged with unclear to a high risk of bias. Meta-analysis for pain at rest (6 studies) showed that PBM significantly reduced pain at rest as compared to placebo (moderate effect, very low certainty of evidence), whereas for the Timed "Up & Go" Test (3 studies), no significant effect was detected. Statistically significantly within-group (PBM) mean improvement was detected for pain, Lequesne Index, and gait performance outcomes, but not always clinically relevant or significant when compared to placebo. Authors concluded that PBM reduces pain intensity in patients with knee osteoarthritis and may improve disability. However, the very low certainty of evidence does not allow to recommend its isolated use but may be used to complement other widely recommended therapies. More rigorous clinical trials and the revision of the recommended dosage guidelines are warranted to increase the strength of evidence.

### **Shoulder Pain**

Several systematic reviews have been published regarding LLLT for treatment of shoulder pain. In general, they are inconsistent in the findings and do not substantiate the effectiveness of this treatment for these conditions.

Haslerud et al. (2015) performed a systematic review with meta-analysis on shoulder tendinopathy and LLLT. The primary outcome measure was pain using the visual analogue scale (VAS) and relative risk for global improvement. Intervention quality assessments were performed of LLLT dosage and treatment procedures according to WALT guidelines. Seventeen randomized controlled trials (RCTs) met the inclusion criteria; 13 RCTs were of high and 4 RCTs of moderate methodological quality. Trials performed with inadequate laser doses were ineffective across all outcome measures. Otherwise, this review demonstrated that optimal LLLT offers clinically relevant pain relief and improvement alone and in combination with other physical therapy interventions.

A systematic review for treatment of subacromial impingement did find laser therapy effective compared to placebo based on 2 RCTs, but it added no benefit when added to ROM exercises (Michener et al., 2004). Several randomized studies conducted for shoulder pain did not find significant results from the treatment with LLLT (Bal, et al., 2009; Dogan, et al., 2010; Abrisham, et al., 2011).

Aceituno-Gómez et al. (2019) evaluated the effectiveness of high-intensity laser therapy on shoulder pain and function in subacromial impingement syndrome. A total of 46 participants with subacromial impingement syndrome were included in the study, with a

total of 21 patients in high-intensity laser therapy group and 22 patients in sham-laser group concluding the study. No differences were found between groups for pain and disability (p > 0.05). Authors concluded the effect of high-intensity laser therapy plus exercise is not greater than exercise alone to reduce pain and improve functionality in patients with subacromial syndrome.

Pieters et al. (2020) updated a systematic review published in 2013 that focused on evaluating the effectiveness of interventions within the scope of physical therapy, including exercise, manual therapy, electrotherapy, and combined or multimodal approaches to managing shoulder pain. Sixteen systematic reviews were retrieved. Results were summarized qualitatively. Relative to laser therapy, there was moderate evidence of no effect. Zhang et al. (2020) compared the efficacy of different nonsurgical interventions and identify potential patient-specific moderating factors for frozen shoulder. Of 3,136 records identified, 92 trials were eligible, evaluating 32 nonsurgical interventions in 5946 patients. Laser therapy showed benefits for pain relief and functional improvement. Authors concluded that laser therapy show potential benefits for multiple outcomes.

Alfredo et al. (2021) investigated the effect of LLLT combined with exercise on shoulder pain and disability in patients with sub-acromial impingement syndrome. Patients (N=120) were enrolled and split into three groups with one group receiving LLLT and exercise, another with just exercise, and the third group only receiving LLLT. Interventions were provided 3x per week for 8 weeks. Based on results, authors concluded that LLLT combined with exercise reduced pain and improved function over the 3 months to a greater degree than either alone.

 de la Barra Ortiz et al. (2023) evaluated the effects of high-intensity laser therapy (HILT) in patients with frozen shoulder. The inclusion criteria encompassed RCTs comparing HILT with other physical therapy interventions in frozen patients with frozen shoulders, with or without sham HILT, assessing pain intensity, shoulder ROM, and disability outcomes. Five trials met the eligibility criteria and were included in the review and meta-analysis, which pooled results from the visual analog scale (VAS), goniometry, and the shoulder pain and disability index (SPADI). Mean differences (MDs) for pain intensity and disability show a pooled effect in favor of HILT both for VAS and SPADI, changes that are statistical (p < 0.01) and clinical. The MD for flexion, abduction, and external rotation range of motion does not show statistical and clinical differences between groups after treatment. Authors concluded that adding HILT into a physical therapy plan may reduce pain and disability, but it does not outperform conventional physical therapy in improving shoulder ROM.

Hao et al. (2024) aimed to identify, critically appraise, and summarize the effects of highintensity laser therapy on subacromial impingement syndrome in this systematic review and meta-analysis. Five randomized controlled trials and one controlled clinical trial were included, with a total of 284 patients with subacromial impingement syndrome. All included studies were evaluated as good or above for quality assessment. Compared to conventional therapy, high-intensity laser therapy demonstrated significantly better outcomes for pain at both post-intervention and three-month post-intervention; shoulder and arm function at both post-intervention and three-month post-intervention; shoulder abduction active range of motion. No significant difference was found for shoulder flexion and external rotation range of motion. This review highlights the promising effects of high-intensity laser therapy for the rehabilitation of subacromial impingement syndrome.

# **Carpal Tunnel Syndrome**

Several systematic reviews have been published regarding LLLT for treatment of carpal tunnel syndrome. In general, they are inconsistent in their findings and do not substantiate the effectiveness of this treatment for these conditions.

The American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons (AAOS) published clinical practice guidelines on the treatment of carpal tunnel syndrome (AAOS, 2016). In the guidelines, regarding laser treatment, it is noted that, "Limited evidence supports that laser therapy might be effective compared to placebo."

(Strength of Recommendation: Limited Evidence. Evidence from one or more "Low" quality studies with consistent findings or evidence from a single "Moderate" quality study for recommending for against the intervention or diagnostic or the evidence is insufficient or conflicting and does not allow a recommendation for or against the intervention)

Peters et al. (2013) reported on a Cochrane review that examined the effectiveness of rehabilitation following carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS) surgery compared with no treatment, placebo, or another intervention. The review found limited and low-quality evidence for the benefit of the reviewed treatments, including laser therapy. The review included 1 quasi-randomized trial which compared LLLT to a placebo laser. This study found that there was no statistically significant difference in CTS symptoms with LLLT compared with a placebo. An update to this review (Peters et al., 2016) included no new studies and similar findings regarding LLLT for rehabilitation following CTS.

Li et al. (2016) reported on a meta-analysis that was conducted to evaluate the effectiveness of low-level laser in the treatment of mild to moderate CTS using a Cochrane systematic review. The review included 7 randomized clinical trials with 270 wrists in the laser group and 261 wrists in the control group with high heterogeneity noted when the analysis was conducted. Hand grip (at 12 weeks) was stronger in the LLLT group than in the control group and there was better improvement in the visual analog scale (VAS) (at 12 weeks) in the LLLT group. The sensory nerve action potential (SNAP) (at 12 weeks) was better in the LLLT group. It was noted that one included study was weighted at >95% in the calculation of these three parameters. There were no statistically significant differences in

the other parameters between the two groups. The authors concluded that that low-level laser improved hand grip, VAS, and SNAP after three months of follow-up for mild to moderate CTS, however, additional high-quality studies using the same laser intervention protocol are needed to confirm the effects of low-level laser in the treatment of CTS.

Bekhet et al. (2017) performed a meta-analysis to investigate the efficacy of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) with anti-inflammatory and analgesic effects, in the management of mild-to-moderate carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS). Eight RCTs (473 patients/631 wrists) were eligible for the final analysis. The overall effect estimates did not favor LLLT therapy group over placebo in all primary outcomes: visual analogue scale, symptom severity scale score, and functional status scale score. However, LLLT was superior to placebo in terms of grip strength and inferior to placebo in terms of sensory nerve action potential. Authors concluded that laser therapy is superior to placebo in terms of improving the grip strength; however, no significant difference was found between both groups in terms of functional status improvement, pain reduction, or motor electrodiagnostic evaluations. Further high-quality trials with longer follow-up periods are required to establish the efficacy of LLLT for CTS treatment.

Franke et al. (2018) systematically reviewed the literature on the effectiveness of low-level laser therapy for patients with carpal tunnel syndrome. Strong evidence was found for the effectiveness of low-level laser therapy compared to placebo treatment in the very short term ( $0 \le 5$  weeks). After five weeks, the positive effects of low-level laser therapy on pain, function, or recovery diminished over time (moderate and conflicting evidence was found at seven and 12-weeks follow-up, respectively). Authors concluded that in the very short-term low-level laser therapy is more effective as a single intervention than placebo low-level laser therapy in patients with carpal tunnel syndrome, after which the positive effects of low-level laser therapy tend to subside. Evidence in the mid and long term is sparse.

Cheung et al. (2020) performed a network meta-analysis (NMA) for evaluating the effectiveness of LLLT compared with other conservative treatments for CTS. Six RCTs (418 patients) were included. NMA suggested that LLLT plus splinting has the highest probability (75%) of pain reduction, compared with sham laser plus splinting (61%), ultrasound plus splinting (57%) and splinting alone (8%). However, while LLLT plus splinting is significantly more effective than sham laser plus splinting for pain reduction, the magnitude is not clinically significant. Authors concluded that the effect of LLLT plus splinting on symptom severity and functional status was not superior to splinting alone. In an American Family Physician paper on nonpharmacologic, noninvasive treatments for chronic musculoskeletal pain, Flynn (2020) reported that low reactive level laser therapy may provide short-term relief of chronic neck and low back pain, and ultrasound may provide short-term pain relief for knee osteoarthritis.

ElMeligie et al. (2024) conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis to investigate the outcomes of short- and long-term follow-up studies for the use of high-intensity laser therapy in carpel tunnel syndrome. Sample sizes of included studies ranged from 16 to 98 patients (N = 308). Overall, a significant difference between the treatment and control groups were found across majority of the measures. Studies using a 4-wk follow-up period, however, only found significantly greater benefits for high-intensity laser therapy in visual analog scale compared with placebo, transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation, and lowintensity laser therapy 20 J/cm 2, and exercise. For improvement in visual analog scale score over a long treatment period, high-intensity laser therapy was also preferred over control group. Insufficient evidence exists to determine effect of high-intensity laser therapy on nerve conduction examinations. The only statistically significant differences observed in examinations were in relation to sensory nerve action potential and sensory nerve conduction velocity. Authors concluded that moderate evidence exists regarding efficacy of high-intensity laser therapy compared with placebo, high-intensity laser therapy + wrist splint, and exercise in a short period of follow-up time but evidence on long-term follow-up is limited.

16 17 18

19 20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10 11

12

13

14

15

Lauxen et al. (2025) completed a literature review on the effectiveness of low-intensity laser therapy (LLLT) in CTS. Thirteen randomized controlled trials were selected from 1.613 records. In the general bias analysis, two studies (15,4%) were considered to have some relevant problems that could interfere with the quality of the study, and three (23,1%) were identified as having a high risk of bias, eight studies (61,5%) were classified as having a low risk of bias. In the meta-analysis, it was possible to observe that there were no advantages of the laser for pain, nor for handgrip strength (p = 0.11), but it did produce improvements in functionality. Authors concluded that LLLT is an effective therapeutic modality in the treatment of CTS, improving functionality; however, despite the studies pointing to advantages for the modality in reducing pain and improving grip strength, the meta-analysis did not show this result.

28 29 30

31

32 33

34

35

36 37

38 39

40

41

### **Myofascial Pain**

For myofascial pain, a randomized controlled study comparing laser treatment with placebo for treatment of myofascial pain found no differences in results between the groups, with both groups achieving some analgesic effect (Carrasco et al., 2009). In a randomized controlled trial of 63 participants with myofascial pain syndrome of the shoulder and neck area, Rayegani et al. (2011) compared LLLT, sham LLLT, and ultrasound (US) and measured pain using the VAS, disability using the Neck Disability Index (NDI), and improvement using an algometric assessment. Each group also received exercises. After 10 sessions of daily treatment, results demonstrated that use of laser therapy demonstrated significant improvements when compared with the sham laser group and also between pre- and post-intervention scores in pain and NDI. There were no significant differences related to pain between LLLT and US; however, the NDI showed

more improvement with laser treatment. The authors recommended further study with larger patient populations (Rayegani et al., 2011).

## Low Back Pain

Several systematic reviews have been published regarding LLLT for treatment of low back pain. In general, they are inconsistent in the findings and do not substantiate the effectiveness of this treatment for these conditions.

Yousefi-Nooraie et al. (2008) conducted a Cochrane review that included seven studies and examined LLLT for nonspecific low-back pain. The authors concluded that based on the heterogeneity of the populations, interventions, and comparison groups, "that there are insufficient data to draw firm conclusion on the clinical effect of LLLT for low-back pain." In addition, the authors note that there is a need for further methodologically rigorous randomized, controlled trials to evaluate the effects of LLLT compared to other treatments, different lengths of treatment, wavelengths, and dosage.

A review of evidence was conducted for the development of an American Pain Society/American College of Physicians clinical practice guideline for diagnosis and treatment of low back pain (Chou and Huffman, 2007). The review examined nonpharmacologic therapies for acute and chronic low back pain and included only systematic reviews and randomized trials, with seven trials that included LLLT. Four trials found laser therapy superior to sham for pain or functional status up to one year after treatment, but another higher-quality trial found no differences between laser and sham in patients receiving exercise. One lower-quality study reported found similar results for laser, exercise, and the combination of laser plus exercise for pain and back-specific functional status. It was noted that optimal treatment parameters, wavelength, dosage, dose intensity are uncertain.

Glazov et al. (2016) reported on a systematic review to determine if LLLT (including laser over acupuncture points) has specific benefits in chronic non-specific low back pain. The review included 15 studies with 1039 participants. The results at immediate and short-term follow-up there was significant pain reduction of up to weighted mean difference -1.40 cm in favor of laser treatment, occurring in trials using at least 3 Joules (J) per point, with baseline pain <30 months and in non-acupuncture LLLT trials. Global assessment showed a risk ratio of 2.16 (95% CI 1.61 to 2.90) in favor of laser treatment in the same groups only at immediate follow-up. While there appears to a benefit with LLLT in the short term, further randomized studies with blinding and longer follow-up are needed to determine the appropriate laser dosage.

Huang et al. (2015b) completed a systematic review and meta-analysis on the effectiveness of low-level laser therapy for nonspecific chronic low back pain. Among 221 studies, 7 trials met inclusion criteria. Based on five studies, pain outcome scores were significantly

lower for the LLLT group compared with placebo. No significant treatment effect was identified for disability scores or spinal range of motion. The authors concluded that findings indicate LLLT is an effective method for relieving pain in non-specific chronic low back pain (NSCLBP) patients, which contradicts other previous findings.

The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) published a review of the comparative effectiveness of non-invasive treatments for low back pain (Chou et al., 2016). The review included randomized, controlled trials, along with systematic reviews of randomized controlled trials. Regarding LLLT for acute back pain, the strength of evidence (SOE) was found to be insufficient, and for LLLT for chronic back pain, the SOE was found to be low to insufficient. Among the findings of the review for LLLT for back pain:

- For acute low back pain, insufficient evidence from one trial to determine effectiveness of low-level laser therapy versus sham laser, due to serious methodological shortcomings and imprecision (Strength of evidence [SOE]: insufficient).
- For chronic low back pain, three of four trials found low-level laser therapy more effective than sham laser for pain, with the methods for assessing pain and duration of follow-up varied; two trials found low-level laser therapy more effective than sham laser for function, with small magnitude of effects (SOE: low for pain and function).
- For chronic low back pain, there was insufficient evidence from three trials to determine effects of low-level laser therapy plus exercise versus the other sham laser plus exercise alone, due to methodological shortcomings and inconsistency (SOE: insufficient).
- There was insufficient evidence to determine effects of low-level laser therapy versus another intervention, due to methodological shortcomings and imprecision (SOE: insufficient).
- There was insufficient evidence to determine effects of different wavelengths of low-level laser therapy or different doses, due to methodological limitations and imprecision (SOE: insufficient).

Choi et al. (2017) examined the effects of High Intensity Laser Therapy on pain and function of patients with chronic back pain. This study evenly divided a total of 20 patients with chronic back pain into a conservative physical therapy group that received conservative physical therapy, and a high intensity laser therapy group that received High Intensity Laser Therapy after conservative physical therapy. All patients received the therapy three times a week for four weeks. For the high intensity laser therapy group, treatment was applied to the L1-L5 and S1 regions for 10 minutes by using a high intensity laser device while vertically maintaining the separation distance from handpiece to skin at approximately 1 cm. A visual analog scale was used to measure the pain and Oswestry Disability Index was used for functional evaluation. In a within-group comparison of the conservative physical therapy and high intensity laser therapy groups, both the visual

analog scale and Oswestry Disability Index significantly decreased. In a between-group comparison after treatment, the high intensity laser therapy group showed a significantly lower visual analog scale and Oswestry Disability Index than the conservative physical therapy group. Authors concluded that High Intensity Laser Therapy can be an effective nonsurgical intervention method for reducing pain and helping the performance of daily routines of patients who have chronic back pain. In a report published by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality on Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain, authors state that function improved over short and/or intermediate term for exercise, low-level laser therapy (Skelly et al., 2020) (SOE: low). This report included 233 RCTs (31 new to this update). Many were small (N<70), and evidence beyond 12 months after treatment completion was sparse. The most common comparison was with usual care. Evidence on harms was limited, with no evidence suggesting increased risk for serious treatment-related harms for any intervention. Effect sizes were generally small for function and pain.

Abdildin et al. (2023) evaluated the effect of high intensity laser therapy (HILT) in adult LBP patients. The primary outcome was pain intensity and secondary outcomes included disability and flexibility scores. The results favored the HILT group over the control group in terms of pain intensity after treatment, Oswestry Disability Index, and Roland Disability Index. The patients in the high-intensity laser therapy had statistically significantly lower (low back) pain intensity compared to the patients in the control group. Based on 3 RCTs, authors noted a positive effect of the HILT on LBP in terms of pain and function.

Chauhan and Sharma (2024) aimed to determine the effect of the combined approach of LASER and exercise therapies in managing pain and reducing disability in patients with LBP. Overall, 3,913 records were screened from these databases and six high methodological quality studies were included in this review after eligibility assessment. In conclusion, HILT and LLLT serve as effective adjuncts to exercise therapy in treating LBP, contributing to pain reduction and disability alleviation.

El Melhat et al. (2024) explored the effectiveness and patient-related outcomes of various conservative approaches, including physical therapy modalities and alternative therapies in the treatment of lumbar disc herniation associated with radiculopathy (LDHR). The objective of this article was to introduce advanced and new treatment techniques, supplementing existing knowledge on various conservative treatments. Authors identified the following interventions to yield moderate evidence of effectiveness for the conservative treatment of LDHR: patient education and self-management, McKenzie method, mobilization and manipulation, exercise therapy, traction (short-term outcomes), neural mobilization, and epidural injections. Two interventions were identified to have weak evidence of effectiveness: traction for long-term outcomes and dry needling. Three interventions were identified to have conflicting or no evidence of effectiveness: electro-

diagnostic-based management, laser and ultrasound, and electrotherapy.

#### Neck Pain

Several systematic reviews have been published regarding LLLT for treatment of neck pain. In general, they are inconsistent in the findings and do not substantiate the effectiveness of this treatment for these conditions.

A meta-analysis and systematic review by Chow et al. (2009) concluded that there is moderate evidence that low level laser therapy reduces pain immediately after treatment in subjects with chronic neck pain and up to 22 weeks after treatment. Low level laser therapy compares favorably with pharmacologic interventions, with no adverse reactions or side effects (Chow et al., 2009). However, reviewers of the systematic review have expressed concerns regarding statistical application and the highly heterogeneous nature of the groups in terms of diagnosis and treatments (Verhagen and Schellingerhout, 2010; Shiri and Viikari-Juntara et al., 2010).

In 2013, Kadhim-Saleh et al. attempted to determine the efficacy of LLLT in reducing acute and chronic neck pain. Eight RCTs involving 443 patients were selected. Five trials included patients with cervical myofascial pain syndrome, and three trials had a variety of patient conditions. Results of the review provided inconclusive evidence because of heterogeneity and potential risk of bias. Any benefit noted, although significant from a statistical standpoint, did not reach the threshold of a minimally important clinical difference.

Gross et al. (2013) evaluated LLLT for adults with neck pain. Their systematic review noted moderate quality evidence for chronic neck pain supporting LLLT over placebo to improve pain and disability, and quality of life into the intermediate term. Low quality evidence suggested LLLT improved short term pain and function over placebo for acute radiculopathy, cervical osteoarthritis, or acute neck pain. For chronic myofascial neck pain (5 trials, 188 participants), evidence was conflicting. Authors conclude that LLLT may be beneficial for chronic neck pain, function and improvement of quality of life, but long-term trials are needed.

Wong et al. (2016) aimed to update the findings of the Neck Pain Task Force, which examined the effectiveness of manual therapies, passive physical modalities, and acupuncture for the management of neck pain and associated disorders (NAD). The review found evidence suggesting that LLLT is not effective for persistent NAD grades I–II. However, prior to publication, the authors discovered new evidence that was not consistent with their Task Force findings and when combining this new evidence with Neck Pain Task Force findings from the 5 studies, the preponderance of evidence suggested that clinic based LLLT is effective for persistent NAD.

In the American Physical Therapy Association Orthopedic Section Clinical Practice Guideline on Neck Pain revised I 2017, it is recommended that for patients with chronic neck pain with mobility deficits, clinicians should provide a multimodal approach of the following: thoracic manipulation and cervical manipulation or mobilization; mixed exercise for cervical/scapulothoracic regions: neuromuscular exercise (e.g., coordination, proprioception, and postural training), stretching, strengthening, endurance training, aerobic conditioning, and cognitive affective elements; dry needling, laser, or intermittent mechanical/manual traction (Grade B) (Blanpied et al., 2017).

8 9 10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

In a report published by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality on Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain, authors state that short-term low-level laser therapy was associated with moderate improvement in function and pain (Skelly et al., 2018). This report was updated in 2020 that included 233 RCTs (31 new to this update). Many were small (N<70), and evidence beyond 12 months after treatment completion was sparse. The most common comparison was with usual care. Evidence on harms was limited, with no evidence suggesting increased risk for serious treatment-related harms for any intervention. Effect sizes were generally small for function and pain. For chronic neck pain, in the short term, low-level laser therapy (SOE: moderate) improved function and pain.

19 20 21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32 33

34

35

36

37

38

Tehrani et al. (2022) evaluated the effectiveness of LLLT on mechanical neck pain (MNP). A total of 13 randomized controlled trials were included in this systematic review and meta-analysis. The data assessing laser effectiveness on different outcomes of 556 patients were considered for meta-analysis. Pooled results revealed that LLLT was significantly effective in pain reduction. Also, secondary outcomes including pain pressure threshold (PPT) and right bending ROM were improved, while disability did not improve significantly after LLLT. Authors concluded that this meta-data revealed that LLLT may reduce myofascial neck pain and its related outcomes. Alayat et al. (2022) aimed to investigate the efficacy of photobiomodulation therapy (PBMT) on pain and pressure pain threshold (PPT) in patients with myofascial pain syndrome (MPS) of the upper trapezius muscle in a systematic review. A total of 17 studies (944 patients) were included. A metaanalysis was performed on 16 studies. Assessment according to the PEDro scale revealed 12 high-quality, 3 fair-quality, and 2 low-quality studies. Authors conclude that the present systemic review revealed that PBMT is an effective PT modality for reducing pain and increasing PPT in patients with MPS of the upper trapezius. PBMT, when combined with EX, had more significant effects in reducing pain and increasing PPT compared with controls. The low-quality studies with low to moderate quality of evidence limit the confidence of findings and recommend further high-quality studies for standardization of treatment protocols and irradiation parameters.

39 40 41

42

Plenar et al. (2023) assessed the effectiveness and safety of conservative interventions compared with other interventions, placebo/sham interventions, or no intervention on

disability, pain, function, quality of life, and psychological impact in adults with cervical radiculopathy. Of the 2,561 records identified, 59 trials met inclusion criteria (n = 4108 participants). Due to clinical and statistical heterogeneity, the findings were synthesized narratively. There is very-low certainty evidence supporting the use of acupuncture, prednisolone, cervical manipulation, and low-level laser therapy for pain and disability in the immediate to short-term, and thoracic manipulation and low-level laser therapy for improvements in cervical range of motion in the immediate term. Authors stated that there is a lack of high-quality evidence, limiting the ability to make any meaningful conclusions.

Ince et al. (2024) researched the clinical effectiveness of high-intensity laser therapy combined with exercise on pain, quality of life, and disability in patients with cervical radiculopathy and compared it with that of placebo and exercise alone. Ninety participants with cervical radiculopathy were randomized into the following 3 groups: high-intensity laser therapy + exercise (n = 30), placebo + exercise (n = 30), and exercise only (n = 30). Pain, cervical range of motion, disability, and quality of life (36-item Short Form Health Survey) were assessed at baseline and weeks 4 and 12. The mean age of the patients (66.7% female) was  $48.9 \pm 9.3$  yrs. Pain intensity in the arm and neck, neuropathic and radicular pain levels, disability, and several parameters of the 36-item Short Form Health Survey showed an improvement in the short and medium term in all three groups. These improvements were greater in the high-intensity laser therapy + exercise group than in the other two groups. Authors concluded that high-intensity laser therapy + exercise was much more effective in improving medium-term radicular pain, quality of life, and functionality in patients with cervical radiculopathy. Thus, high-intensity laser therapy should be considered for the management of cervical radiculopathy.

## **Achilles Tendinopathy**

One study of 52 recreational athletes with Achilles tendinopathy compared eccentric exercise plus either laser or placebo treatments administered twice per week for 4 weeks, followed by once per week for 4 weeks. The laser group had significantly greater improvements in pain VAS, stiffness, ROM, and tenderness at 4, 8, and 12 weeks (Stergioulas et al., 2008). Tumilty et al. (2008) used low level laser therapy applied to points on the tendon 3 times a week for 12 weeks and noted significant improvement in all outcome measures at 4 and 12 weeks. However, the authors determined that conclusions regarding effectiveness could not be made due to the low statistical power of the study.

The Orthopaedic Section of the American Physical Therapy Association (APTA) published clinical practice guidelines for Achilles pain, stiffness, and muscle power deficits (Carcia, et al., 2010). The guidelines note that based on limited works, the future of LLLT is promising for patients suffering from Achilles tendon pain. Given the limited number of studies employing LLLT in this population, additional study is warranted. Clinicians should consider the use of low-level laser therapy to decrease pain and stiffness in patients with Achilles tendinopathy. (Level B\*).

\*Level B: Moderate evidence - A single high-quality randomized controlled trial or a preponderance of level II studies support the recommendation.

2 3 4

5

6

7

8

9

10 11

1

Martimbianco et al. (2020) determined the benefits and harms of low-level laser therapy for Achilles tendinopathy. Four trials (119 participants) were analyzed. Laser therapy associated to eccentric exercises when compared to eccentric exercises and sham had very low to low certainty of evidence in pain and function assessment. The function assessment showed an improvement favoring the placebo group at one month and non-significant difference between groups at 3 and 13 months. Adverse events were poorly reported but restricted to minor events related to the exercises. Authors concluded that the certainty of evidence was low to very low, and the results are insufficient to support the routine use laser therapy for Achilles tendinopathy.

12 13 14

15

16

17

18

19 20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32 33

34

35

36

37

38 39

40

41

### **Plantar Fasciitis**

Guimarães et al. (2022) investigated the effects of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) on pain and disability in patients with plantar fasciitis (PF). Three comparisons were made: LLLT compared with placebo, LLLT combined with conventional rehabilitation (CR) compared with CR and LLLT compared with extracorporeal shock wave therapy. Fourteen studies (817 patients) met the study criteria. Compared to the placebo group, LLLT improved pain (moderate-quality evidence) in the short term (0-6 weeks). No significant difference in short-term disability was found for participants in the LLLT group compared to the placebo group. Compared to the CR group, LLLT combined with CR improved pain (moderatequality evidence) in the short term (0-6 weeks). Compared to extracorporeal shock wave therapy, LLLT did not significantly reduce pain intensity in the short term (low-quality evidence). Authors concluded that LLLT may improve pain in the short term and can be considered as a component of care of patients with PF. However, this superiority disappeared compared to extracorporeal shock wave therapy. Naterstad et al. (2022) investigated the effectiveness of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) in lower extremity tendinopathy and plantar fasciitis on patient-reported pain and disability. Only randomised controlled trials involving participants with lower extremity tendinopathy or plantar fasciitis treated with LLLT were included. LLLT was compared with placebo (10 trials), other interventions (5 trials) and as an add-on intervention (3 trials). The study quality was moderate to high. Overall, pain was significantly reduced by LLLT at completed therapy and 4-12 weeks later. Overall, disability was significantly reduced by LLLT at completed therapy and 4-9 weeks later. Compared with placebo control, the recommended doses significantly reduced pain at completed therapy and 4-8 weeks later. The recommended doses significantly reduced pain as an add-on to exercise therapy versus exercise therapy alone at completed therapy and 4-9 weeks later. No adverse events were reported. Authors concluded that LLLT significantly reduces pain and disability in lower extremity tendinopathy and plantar fasciitis in the short and medium term. Long-term data were not available.

Guimarães et al. (2023) sought to determine the effects of different therapeutic interventions that have ever been evaluated in randomized controlled trials on pain due to plantar fasciitis. A total of 236 studies met the study criteria, including 15,401 patients. LLLT resulted in being effective treatments for pain when compared to the control in the short term, relative to only LLLT.

5 6 7

8

9

10 11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19 20

21

1

2

3

4

Ferlito et al. (2023) reviewed the effects of photobiomodulation therapy (PBMT) on pain intensity and disability in people with plantar fasciitis (PF) when compared with control conditions, other interventions, and adjunct therapies. Only randomized controlled trials (RCTs) in adults with PF that compared PBMT to placebo, as well as RCTs that compared PBMT to other interventions; and as an adjunct to other therapies were included. Nineteen RCTs involving 1,089 participants were included in this review. PBMT alone or with exercise improved pain intensity in short-term treatment. PBMT was superior to (extracorporeal shock wave therapy) EWST for relief of pain. In the follow-up, PBMT plus exercise had a superior to exercise therapy alone. PBMT may be superior to ultrasound therapeutic in medium- and long-term follow-ups for disability but can be not clinically relevant. There is uncertainty that PBMT is capable of promoting improvement in disability. PBMT when used with adjuvant therapy does not enhance outcomes of interest. PBMT improves pain intensity with or without exercise. PBMT has been shown to be superior to ESWT for pain relief, but not superior to other interventions for pain intensity and disability. The evidence does not support PBMT as an adjunct to other electrotherapeutic modalities.

222324

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32 33 Yadav et al. (2025) sought to provide a comprehensive summary of the present body of literature regarding the use of LASER therapy in managing pain related to plantar fasciitis. Five pertinent studies out of 21,034 studies met the predefined inclusion criteria and underwent rigorous evaluation. Although some variations persisted among the research outcomes, a predominant trend highlighted a notable decrease in pain severity on Visual Analogue Scale (VAS)/Numeric Rating Scale-pain (NRS-p) with the adoption of diverse LASER therapy methodologies. Notably, no adverse repercussions were reported across any of the studies, emphasizing the safety profile of these LASER interventions for plantar fasciitis patients. In summation, integrating these LASER therapy approaches alongside conventional therapeutic strategies appears promising for enhancing the efficacy and sustainability of plantar fasciitis pain management.

343536

37

38

### **Lateral Epicondylitis**

Several systematic reviews have been published regarding LLLT for treatment of lateral epicondylitis. In general, they are inconsistent in the findings and do not substantiate the effective ness of this treatment for these conditions.

39 40 41

42

Dingemanse et al. (2013) performed a systematic review of the effectiveness of electrophysical modalities for the treatment of medial and lateral epicondylitis. A total of

2 reviews and 22 RCTs were included and evaluated, all of which concerned lateral epicondylitis. Ultrasound plus friction massage showed moderate effectiveness over LLLT on short term follow up. Moderate evidence was found in favor of LLLT over plyometric exercises on short term follow up (Dingemanse et al., 2013).

4 5 6

7

8

1

2

3

Sims et al. (2014) completed a systematic review of treatments for lateral epicondylitis. They noted that LLLT demonstrates superiority over placebo in some studies and not in others. They determined that the evidence is insufficient to draw conclusions that there is one preferred method of non-surgical treatment for this condition.

9 10 11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19 20

21

22

23

24

25

26

Akkurt et al. (2016) investigated short- and long-term effects of high-intensity laser therapy (HILT) in lateral epicondylitis (LE) patients. Thirty patients with LE diagnosis (23 unilateral and 7 bilateral in total 37 elbows) were treated using HILT. LE patients were evaluated before, right after, and 6 months following HILT intervention post-treatment using visual analogue scale for pain (VAS) during activity and resting. Disabilities of the Arm, Shoulder, and Hand (DASH) Score and hand grip strength test (HGST) were used. The participants of the present study were also evaluated using Short-Form 36 (SF-36) before and 6 months after the treatment. Out of the 30 patients, 8 were male and 22 were female with a mean age of  $47.2 \pm 9.7$ . The activity and resting VAS, DASH, and HGST scores revealed statistically significant improvement following treatment. Whereas VAS activity, DASH, and HGST scores increased significantly after treatment until posttreatment 6 months, VAS resting scores remained unchanged. A statistically significant improvement was also evident in the physical and mental components of SF-36 scores following treatment until post-treatment 6 months compared to pre-treatment scores. In conclusion, the results of the present study suggest that HILT is a reliable, safe, and effective treatment option in LE patients in the short- and long-term considering pain, functional status, and quality of life.

272829

30

31

32 33

34

35

36

Dion et al. (2017) evaluated the effectiveness of passive physical modalities for the management of soft tissue injuries of the elbow. Twenty-one were eligible for critical appraisal and (reporting on 8 randomized controlled trials) had a low risk of bias. Authors found that adding transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation to primary care does not improve the outcome of patients with lateral epicondylitis. They found inconclusive evidence for the effectiveness of: (1) an elbow brace for managing lateral epicondylitis of variable duration; and (2) shockwave therapy or low-level laser therapy for persistent lateral epicondylitis. Authors conclude that their review found little evidence to inform the use of passive physical modalities for the management of elbow soft tissue injuries.

373839

40

41

A systematic review concluded that low-level laser therapy administered directly to the lateral elbow tendon insertions may offer short-term pain relief and decreased disability, both alone and in conjunction with an exercise program (Bjordal et al., 2008). A

systematic review of literature on treatments for lateral epicondylitis did not support the use of low-level laser therapy (Trudel et al., 2004).

Lian et al. (2018) compared the efficacy and safety of nonsurgical treatment options for enthesopathy of the extensor carpi radialis brevis (eECRB) described in randomized placebo-controlled trials at short-term, midterm, and long-term follow-up and evaluated outcomes in patients receiving placebo. Thirty-six randomized placebo-controlled trials, evaluating 11 different treatment modalities, with a total of 2,746 patients were included. At midterm follow-up, laser therapy and local botulinum toxin injection improved pain.

#### **Rheumatoid Arthritis**

A Cochrane systematic review (Brosseau, et al., 2005) was performed for the purpose of reviewing literature regarding the use of LLLT as treatment for rheumatoid arthritis (RA). Six studies with 220 patients with rheumatoid arthritis were included in the review. The main limitation with the studies is the heterogeneity of clinical application. In addition, the results are subject to publication bias, if negative trials have not been published. It was concluded in this review that "this meta-analysis found that pooled data gave some evidence of a clinical effect, but the outcomes were in conflict, and it must therefore be concluded that firm documentation of the application of LLLT in RA is not possible. Conversely, a possible clinical benefit in certain subgroups cannot be ruled out from the present meta-analysis and further large scaled studies are recommended with special attention to the findings in this meta-analysis (e.g., low versus high dose wavelength, nerve versus joint application, and treatment duration)."

 The Ottawa Panel Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines reviewed the same set of RCTs using the Cochrane method and concluded there was strong evidence in support of a clinically important benefit for low level laser treatment of foot, knee, or hand pain for patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (Ottawa Panel Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines, 2004). Their findings were based on positive findings in 4 out of 5 placebocontrolled RCTs, with pain reduction ranging from 19 – 28%. A later review of systematic reviews concluded that there is evidence that low-level laser therapy generally reduces pain and improves function (Christie et al., 2007). A randomized controlled study of LLLT concluded that it was not specifically effective for the treatment of hand pain in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (Meireles, et al., 2010).

Lourinho et al. (2023) evaluated the efficacy of low-level laser therapy in adults with RA. Currently available evidence was from 18 RCTs, with a total of 793 participants. Authors found low-quality evidence suggesting there may be no difference between using infrared laser and sham in terms of pain, morning stiffness, grip strength, functional capacity, inflammation, ROM, disease activity and adverse events. The evidence is very uncertain about the effects of red laser compared to sham in pain, morning stiffness. Authors concluded that infrared laser may not be superior to sham in RA patients. There is

insufficient information to support or refute the effectiveness of red laser, laser acupuncture and reflexology for treating patients with RA.

## **Temporomandibular Joint Dysfunction (TMJ or TMD)**

Several systematic reviews have been published regarding LLLT for treatment of temporomandibular joint dysfunction (TMJ or TMD). In general, they are inconsistent in the findings and do not substantiate the effectiveness of this treatment for these conditions. Chang et al. (2014) completed a systematic review of selected studies of randomized controlled trials and calculated the effect size (ES) of the pain relief to evaluate the effect of LLLT. Seven studies met inclusion criteria. Results indicated a moderate effect of pain relief. Also, the dosages and treatments with wavelengths of 780 and 830 nm created moderate and large pain relief effects. Authors concluded that use of LLLT for TMJ pain had a moderate analgesic effect. They agree that the optimal parameters for LLLT to treat TMJ pain have not been confirmed.

 A systematic review and meta-analysis assessed the evidence for LLLT for Temporomandibular Disorders (TMD) (Petrucci, et al., 2011). Six randomized clinical trials were included in the review. The primary outcome was the change in pain from baseline to endpoint. The pooled effect of LLLT on pain, measured through a visual analog scale was not statistically significant from placebo. The authors concluded that there is no evidence to support the effectiveness of LLLT in the treatment of TMD.

Maia et al. (2012) reported on a systematic review of LLLT on pain levels in patients with temporomandibular disorders (TMD). The review included 14 studies, with 12 studies utilizing a placebo group. The number of sessions varied along with the frequency of applications. There was a range in the energy density and power density used. It was found that there was a reduction in pain levels reported in 13 studies, with nine of these occurring only in the experimental group and four studies reporting pain relief for both experimental and placebo group. The authors concluded that while LLLT appeared to be effective in reducing pain, due to the heterogeneity in standardization of parameters of laser there should be caution in interpretation of the results. Further research is needed regarding appropriate application laser protocol.

Xu et al. (2018) systematically reviewed randomized controlled trials (RCTs) of the effect of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) versus placebo in patients with temporomandibular disorder (TMD). A total of 31 RCTs were included. Combining data from all clinically heterogeneous studies revealed positive effects of LLLT on pain relief, regardless of the visual analogue scale (VAS) score or the change of VAS score between the baseline and the final follow-up time point, while dosage analyses showed discrepant results about the effects of high or low doses for patients with TMD. Follow-up analyses showed that LLLT significantly reduced pain at the short-term follow-up. Temporomandibular joint function outcomes indicated that the overall effect favored LLLT over placebo. Authors suggest

that from this review, LLLT effectively relieves pain and improves functional outcomes in patients with TMD.

2 3 4

5

6

7

9

10 11

12

13

14

15

16

1

In a systematic review, de Pedro and colleagues (2020) examined the efficacy of LLLT for the management of neuropathic orofacial pain. The primary outcome was measurement of pain intensity. A total of 997 studies were obtained with the initial search; 13 (8 RCTs, 2 prospective studies, and 3 case series) met the inclusion criteria and were analyzed for data extraction; 3 provided data for the treatment of trigeminal neuralgia (TN), 1 for occipital neuralgia, and 10 for BMS. All studies showed a reduction in pain intensity (most of them significant). The different studies analyzed LLLT alone and compared to placebo, to another treatment, or to different LLLT application protocols. The authors concluded that LLLT appeared to be effective as a therapeutic option for different neuropathic orofacial pain entities such as TN, occipital neuralgia, and BMS as a single or combined treatment. Moreover, these researchers stated that more quality studies assessing all outcome measures of chronic pain are needed in the medium- and long-terms. Furthermore, due to the lack of standardization of the application technique, more well-designed studies are needed to confirm the results of this systematic review.

17 18 19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32 33

34

35

36

Ahmad et al. (2021) evaluated the efficacy of LLLT in the treatment of temporomandibular joint disorder within a systematic review. Thirty-seven articles were considered eligible for this systematic review. Out of 37 studies, 33 (89.18%) are high methodological studies, which have an overall low risk of bias or with some concerns, while only 4 studies have a high risk of bias. Eighteen studies showed that LLLT was efficacious in diminishing TMD pain, whereas 12 studies showed that LLLT had similar efficacy as of placebo/controls/other intervention in TMD pain diminution. Four studies presented varied effects of LLLT on pain intensity, mandibular motion, EMG activity, and masticatory efficiency. Two studies revealed that LLLT improved the psychological and emotional aspects associated with TMDs, joint noises, masticatory efficiency, and EMG parameters, respectively. One study focused on subjective tinnitus, whereas another study suggested laser acupuncture (LAT) therapy as a suitable alternative to LLLT. The results demonstrate that LLLT appears to be efficient in diminishing TMD pain with variable effects on the outcome of secondary parameters. The results demonstrate that LLLT appears to be efficient in diminishing TMD pain with variable effects on the outcome of secondary parameters. Also, LLLT provides advantages as the therapeutic regimen is non-invasive, reversible, with fewer adverse effects, and may also improve the psychological and emotional aspects associated with TMDs. Therefore, this systematic review highlights the role of LLLT as a promising therapeutic regimen for TMDs.

373839

40

41

42

Ren et al. (2022) assessed the efficacy of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) with different wavelengths and transcutaneous electric nerve stimulation (TENS) and explore the optimal wavelength range of laser application in the treatment of pain caused by temporomandibular disorders (TMD). Twenty-seven RCTs with 969 patients with TMD

were included. In the meta-analysis, all treatment groups showed an overall improvement in pain scores, when compared with the placebo group. LLLT with wavelength ranging from 910 nm to 1100 nm produced more pain relief in the visual analogue scale (VAS) immediately after treatment. After one-month follow-up, LLLT with wavelength ranging from 910 nm to 1100 nm also showed superior pain-relieving effects. However, no significant difference was observed. Authors concluded that the results of the meta-analysis showed the LLLT had better short-term efficacy than TENS in the treatment of pain caused by TMD. Better results can be achieved with higher wavelengths. Therefore, authors recommended to treat TMD using LLLT with wavelength ranging from 910 nm to 1100 nm.

10 11 12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19 20

21

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

9

Zhang et al. (2023) evaluated the efficacy of laser therapy in temporomandibular disorders (TMD) in a systematic review. The primary outcome measure was the degree of pain, reported on a visual analog scale (VAS), and the secondary outcome measures were TMJ function, including maximum active vertical opening, maximum passive vertical opening, left and right lateral movement (LLE, RLE). A total of 28 randomized controlled trials were included. Laser therapy had a more significant effect in terms of VAS and RLE as compared to placebo group. However, there was no significant difference in LLE between two groups. Authors concluded that laser therapy can effectively reduce pain but have small effect on improving mandibular movement of TMD patients. More well-designed RCTs with large sample sizes are needed for further validation. And these studies should report detailed laser parameters and provide complete outcome measure data.

222324

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32 33

34

35

36

37

38 39

40

41 42 de Oliveira-Souza et al. (2023) sought to determine the effectiveness of laser therapy for managing patients with orofacial pain (OFP). They also sought to determine which parameters provide the best treatment effects to reduce pain, improve function, and quality of life in adults with OFP. Eighty-nine studies were included. Most studies (n = 72, 80.9%) were considered to have a high risk of bias. The results showed that laser therapy was better than placebo in improving pain, maximal mouth open (MMO), protrusion, and tenderness at the final assessment, but with a low or moderate level of evidence. The best lasers and parameters to reduce pain are diode or gallium-aluminum-arsenide (GaAlAs) lasers, a wavelength of 400-800 or 800-1500 nm, and dosage of <25 J/cm<sup>2</sup>. Authors concluded that laser therapy was better than placebo to improve pain, MMO, protrusion, and tenderness. Also, it was better than occlusal splint to improve pain, but not better than TENS and medication. For patients with all types of temporomandibular disorders (TMDs) (myogenous, arthrogenous, and mixed), the following lasers and parameters are recommended: diode or gallium-aluminum-arsenide (GaAlAs) laser, wavelength of 400-800 or 800-1500 nm, and a dosage <25 J/cm<sup>2</sup>.For patients with arthrogenous TMDs, the following lasers and parameters are recommended: Diode laser and a wavelength between 400 and 800 nm. For patients with myogenous TMDs, the following lasers and parameters are recommended: diode laser, wavelength between 800 and 1500 nm, and dosage of <25 J/cm2.For patients with mixed TMDs, the following lasers and parameters are recommended: diode, GaAlAs, or infrared laser, a wavelength of 800-1500 nm, a dosage >100 J/cm2, and an application time between 15 and 30 s or >60 seconds.

2 3 4

5

6

7

9

10 11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19 20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

1

Busse et al. (2023) completed a comparative effectiveness study of available therapies for chronic pain associated with temporomandibular disorders (TMD). Recommendations: For patients living with chronic pain (≥3 months) associated with TMD, and compared with placebo or sham procedures, the guideline panel issued: (1) strong recommendations in favor of cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) with or without biofeedback or relaxation therapy, therapist-assisted mobilization, manual trigger point therapy, supervised postural exercise, supervised jaw exercise and stretching with or without manual trigger point therapy, and usual care (such as home exercises, stretching, reassurance, and education); (2) conditional recommendations in favor of manipulation, supervised jaw exercise with mobilization, CBT with non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDS), manipulation with postural exercise, and acupuncture; (3) conditional recommendations against reversible occlusal splints (alone or in combination with other interventions), arthrocentesis (alone or in combination with other interventions), cartilage supplement with or without hyaluronic acid injection, low level laser therapy (alone or in combination with other interventions), transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation, gabapentin, botulinum toxin injection, hyaluronic acid injection, relaxation therapy, trigger point injection, acetaminophen (with or without muscle relaxants or NSAIDS), topical capsaicin, biofeedback, corticosteroid injection (with or without NSAIDS), benzodiazepines, and β blockers; and (4) strong recommendations against irreversible oral splints, discectomy, and NSAIDS with opioids. These recommendations apply to patients living with chronic pain (≥3 months duration) associated with TMD as a group of conditions, and do not apply to the management of acute TMD pain. Authors concluded that when considering management options, clinicians and patients should first consider strongly recommended interventions, then those conditionally recommended in favor, then conditionally against. In doing so, shared decision making is essential to ensure patients make choices that reflect their values and preference, availability of interventions, and what they may have already tried. Further research is warranted and may alter recommendations in the future.

303132

33

34

35

36

37

38 39

40

41

42

Tournavitis et al. (2023) evaluated the effectiveness of conservative different therapeutic modalities for temporomandibular disorders (TMD) pain in a systematic review. Studies included must have patients older than 18 years, with painful TMD, which diagnosis was performed by Research Diagnostic Criteria for TMD or Diagnostic Criteria for TMD. Outcome variables were pain relief and post treatment pain intensity reduction. Of 1,599 articles obtained, 28 RCTs fulfilled all selection criteria and were included. The results of this study show that there was a significant decrease in short-term post-treatment TMD pain with the use of occlusal splint alone or in combination with other therapeutic modalities when compared with the control group. Statistically significant differences were also detected between laser and photobiomodulation group and the control, in short-term treatment TMD-related pain. Authors concluded that the primary findings of the present

systematic review showed that the occlusal splint alone or combined with other therapeutic intervention presented positive effect on short-term TMD pain reduction. Secondary outcome suggests that laser and photobiomodulation therapy had, also, a significant role in short term pain relief.

4 5 6

7

8

9

10 11

12

13

14

15

16

1

2

3

Tanhan et al. (2023) aimed to investigate the efficacy of different types of physiotherapy approaches in individuals with cervical myofascial painful temporomandibular disorders (TMDs). Seventy-five participants with myofascial pain of jaw muscles and cervical myofascial pain were randomized into three groups: exercise group, low-level laser therapy group (LLLT), and manual pressure release group (MPR). All patients were assessed before treatment and after 12 sessions of treatment. Significant improvement was seen in all groups' pressure pain threshold (PPT) values. Some masticatory and neck muscles' PPT changes in MRP and LLLT groups were significantly higher than the exercise group (p < 0.05). Authors concluded that exercise therapy is an effective approach for treatment of TMDs. Additionally, LLLT combined with exercise and MPR combined with exercise have better effects than only exercise therapy. Multimodal treatment approaches should include exercise to achieve better results in clinical practice.

17 18 19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32 33 Al-Moraissi et al. (2024) compared and ranked all treatments for disc displacement with reduction (DDwR), including conservative treatments, occlusal splints, low-level laser therapy (LLLT), manual therapy, no treatment (control), arthrocentesis (Arthro) alone, Arthro plus intra-articular injection of platelet-rich plasma (Arthro-PRP) or hyaluronic acid (Arthro-HA), and Arthro plus occlusal splint. Predictor variables were pain intensity and maximum mouth opening (MMO). Twenty RCTs reporting 1,107 patients were identified in the literature search; 980 of these patients were included in the network meta-analysis. Direct meta-analysis showed that Arthro-PRP significantly reduced pain intensity compared to Arthro alone, while occlusal splint and manual therapy were superior to conservative treatment (all very low quality evidence). Arthro with intra-articular injection of PRP/HA ranked as the most effective treatment in terms of pain reduction, whereas LLLT ranked the best choice for increasing MMO for patients with DDwR. Authors emphasized that it is important to note that the evidence for the superiority of these treatments is generally of very low quality. Therefore, further high-quality research is needed to confirm these findings and provide more reliable recommendations for the treatment of DDwR.

343536

37

38 39

40

41

42

da Silva Mira et al. (2024) conducted a systematic review according to the Cochrane Collaboration guidelines and aimed to address clinical questions using the following strategy: Patient/Problem, Intervention, Comparison, and Outcome (PICO). Meta-analysis involved the extraction of mean and standard deviation values for spontaneous pain and mouth opening levels for patients with TMD. Seven studies were included in this review, all of which used LLLT. The applied wavelengths ranged from 690 to 810 nm without significant variations in light emission patterns. LLLT demonstrated a significant reduction

in instantaneous pain levels and an improvement in instantaneous mouth opening, with low certainty of evidence. Authors concluded that LLLT may alleviate symptoms in patients with TMD; however, caution should be exercised when interpreting the results because of protocol variations among studies and the limited number of studies included in the meta-analysis.

de la Barra Ortiz et al. (2024) assessed the effects of high-intensity laser therapy (HILT) on individuals suffering from temporomandibular joint disorders (TMDs). The main outcome was pain intensity (VAS), with secondary outcomes including mouth opening (mm), disability (JFLS-20), and quality of life (OHIP-14). A meta-analysis was conducted to assess the pooled effect by calculating mean differences for these variables. Three studies met the selection criteria and were included in the meta-analysis. Statistically significant differences in favor of HILT were observed for VAS and maximum mouth opening. The pooled effect showed improvement for pain intensity and for mouth opening, changes that were assessed as clinically important. Authors concluded that HILT has been found effective in short-term pain relief and improvement of jaw opening in TMDs, potentially enhancing quality of life by facilitating activities such as chewing, jaw mobility, and communication. However, further research is needed to confirm its long-term effectiveness. Combining HILT with interventions such as occlusal splints or therapeutic exercises could potentially enhance its effects, leveraging the existing evidence supporting these treatments.

Ansari et al. (2024) assessed the reduction in pain, muscle tenderness, joint clicking, and improvement in mouth opening (MO) after low-level laser therapy (LLLT) compared to transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) and therapeutic ultrasound (US) among temporomandibular joint disorder (TMD) patients. Twelve RCTs were included in the systematic review, and 9 were included in the meta-analysis. For reduction in pain between LLLT and TENS, LLLT was found to be better than TENS. LLLT was also proven to be better in reducing pain than therapeutic US. Authors concluded that this systematic review and meta-analysis compared the effectiveness of LLLT, TENS, and therapeutic US in TMD. LLLT provided relatively more effective pain relief and improvement in MO.

Altuhafy et al. (2024) compared the effectiveness of combining photobiomodulation (PBM) with orofacial myofunctional therapy (OMT) in managing orofacial pain disorders. Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) focusing on PBM and OMT for the management of orofacial pain were included. A total of 10 RCTs were included, out of which 7 RCTs revealed that the combined approach of PBM and OMT had a more pronounced impact on diminishing pain and enhancing functional activity in patients with orofacial disorders. One study reported significant increases in pressure pain threshold for TMJ, masseter, and anterior temporalis muscles at both sides in the post-treatment compared with the pretreatment in both groups. The risk of bias was low in 7, moderate in 2, and high in 1 study. The efficacy of a combined modality treatment of PBM with OMT for orofacial pain

disorder shows promising results. However, further randomized controlled trials with extended follow-up periods standardized PBM and OMT parameters are warranted to obtain firm conclusions.

#### **Wound Healing**

There are several systematic technical reviews published regarding the use of low-level laser for wound healing. The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) published a review of the comparative effectiveness and harms of different therapies and approaches to treating pressure ulcers (Saha, et al., 2013). Regarding low-level laser therapy, the review found low strength of evidence for laser therapy and that wound improvement was similar with laser therapy compared with sham treatment or standard care (4 studies). Beckmann et al. (2014) completed a systematic literature review of LLLT for wound healing of diabetic ulcers. They concluded that although the majority of clinical studies show a potential benefit of LLLT in wound healing of diabetic ulcers, there are several aspects in these studies limiting final evidence about the actual outcomes. In summary, all studies give enough evidence to continue research on laser therapy for diabetic ulcers, but clinical trials using human models do not provide sufficient evidence to establish the usefulness of LLLT as an effective tool in wound care regimes at present. Further well-designed research trials are required to determine the true value of LLLT in routine wound care.

Huang et al. (2021) performed a meta-analysis to evaluate the effect of LLLT on diabetic foot ulcers (DFUs). A total of 13 randomized controlled trials (RCTs) and 413 patients were analyzed. Compared with the control group, LLLT significantly increased the complete healing rate, reduced the ulcer, and shortened the mean healing time of patients with DFUs. The quality of the evidence was very low according to the GRADE system. Authors concluded that LLLT is a promising and effective adjuvant treatment to accelerate the healing of DFUs. Further evidence from larger samples and higher quality RCTs is needed to prove the effect of LLLT and to determine the most appropriate parameters for the healing of DFUs.

Liu et al. (2023) implemented a meta-analysis to review diabetic foot wound ulcer (DFWU) management by laser therapy (LT). The 26 elected studies included 1,067 individuals with DFWU, 540 utilizing LT and 527 as controls. LT demonstrated significantly higher ulcer size decreases and complete healing rate compared with control in individuals with DFWU. LT had significantly higher ulcer size decreases, and complete healing rate compared to control individuals with DFWU. Nevertheless, authors state to exercise caution when interpreting results given low sample size for the comparisons in the meta-analysis.

Yoon et al. (2024) evaluated the efficacy of HILT and the potential benefits of incorporating co- interventions alongside HILT in wound management. The primary measures were decreased wound surface area (WSA) and improved wound appearance

(WA) or other objective wound assessment tools containing these two values. Six human studies investigating HILT in wound healing treatment and one animal study assessing the wound-healing effects of HILT in acute wounds of mice were selected. This limited number of studies exhibited varying treatment parameters, blinding procedures, wound etiologies, irradiation protocols, and testing areas All selected studies demonstrated favorable results in improving wound conditions. Although insufficient data support using HILT in wound management, the promising results encourage further research. HILT appears effective in wound healing, but more high-quality studies are needed to identify optimal laser protocols.

Zhang et al. (2024) evaluated the impact of red and infrared light on the healing of diabetic foot ulcers (DFUs) and provide evidence-based recommendations for future clinical adjunctive treatments of DFUs. A total of 28 studies, involving 1471 patients, were included. The meta-analysis showed that groups treated with red and infrared light had a significantly higher ulcer healing rate, shorter ulcer healing time, increased peak blood flow velocity in the dorsalis pedis artery, and reduced wound pain score compared to the control group. However, there was no statistically significant difference in the incidence of adverse events between the two methods. Authors concluded that the use of red and infrared light as an adjunctive treatment for DFUs is more beneficial than conventional wound care. However, due to limitations in the quality and sample size of the included studies, further high-quality research is needed to validate these conclusions.

## **Oral Mucositis**

A systematic review and meta-analysis were conducted to examine the effect of LLLT in cancer therapy-induced oral mucositis (OM). The review included 11 randomized, placebo-controlled trials with 415 patients (Bjordal, et al., 2011). The study found consistent evidence from small high-quality studies that red and infrared LLLT can partially prevent development of cancer therapy-induced OM. LLLT also significantly reduced pain, severity, and duration of symptoms in patients with cancer therapy-induced OM. The limitation of the study included the small sample size of the included trials and the heterogeneity of the treatment procedures and dosing.

Clarkson et al. (2010) reported on a Cochrane review to assess the effectiveness of interventions for treating oral mucositis or its associated pain in patients with cancer receiving chemotherapy or radiotherapy or both. The review found that there is limited evidence from two small trials that low level laser treatment reduces the severity of the mucositis. The authors concluded that there is weak and unreliable evidence that low level laser treatment reduces the severity of the mucositis with a need for further, well designed, placebo or no treatment-controlled trials assessing the effectiveness of interventions for mucositis.

Lalla et al. (2014) updated a previous version of the Multinational Association of 1 Supportive Care in Cancer and International Society of Oral Oncology (MASCC/ISOO) 2 Clinical Practice Guidelines for mucositis in a systematic review. The literature search 3 identified 8,279 papers, 1,032 of which were retrieved for detailed evaluation based on 4 titles and abstracts. Of these, 570 qualified for final inclusion in the systematic reviews. 5 Sixteen new guidelines were developed for or against the use of various interventions in 6 specific treatment settings. In total, the MASCC/ISOO Mucositis Guidelines now include 7 32 guidelines: 22 for oral mucositis and 10 for gastrointestinal mucositis. Authors reviewed 8 24 studies evaluating the effects of laser or other light therapy on oral mucositis. The 9 evidence supported the development of 2 new guidelines: a recommendation in favor of 10 low-level laser therapy (LLLT) for the prevention of oral mucositis in patients receiving 11 high-dose chemotherapy (CT) for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) with or 12 without total body irradiation, and a suggestion for LLLT in the prevention of oral 13 mucositis in patients receiving head and neck radiation therapy (H&N RT) without 14 concomitant chemotherapy. 15

16 17

18

19

20 21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

This clinical practice guideline was updated again in 2021 (Elad et al.). This current guideline update has several new insights:

- A recommendation for the prevention of OM with intraoral photobiomodulation (PBM) therapy (previously laser or light therapy) in patients who undergo HSCT
  - O Current systematic review reiterates the 2014 guidelines in this patient population and increases the range of PBM settings that may be used;
- A recommendation for the prevention of OM with intraoral PBM therapy in patients with cancer who receive H&N RT (without CT)
  - o This is an upgrade of the 2014 guidelines from a suggestion to a recommendation
- A recommendation for the prevention of OM with intraoral PBM therapy in patients with cancer who receive H&N RT with CT
  - o This new guideline is based on recent evidence.

293031

32

33

34

35

36

3738

The authors also identified several RCTs aimed at the treatment of OM in pediatric patients undergoing mixed RT/RT-CT, mixed HSCT/CT, or CT for several types of cancer. The results were promising; however, it was too early to base a guideline on these findings. Authors also reported that recent long-term follow-up studies on patients treated with PBM for the prevention of OM showed no increase in cancer recurrence. However, the analysis of these data is challenging. Considering the conflicting evidence from animal models regarding the effect of PBM on tumor behavior, the clinician is advised to inform patients about the expected benefits and potential risks of PBM. They also state that PBM protocols described in this guideline should be followed exactly to optimize clinical efficacy.

39 40 41

42

He et al. (2018) aimed to synthesize the available clinical evidence on the effects of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) in the prevention and treatment of chemotherapy-induced oral

mucositis (OM). Authors found 8 qualified clinical trials with a total of 373 pediatric patients; Authors concluded that prophylactic LLLT reduces mucositis and severe mucositis and decreases the average severity of oral mucositis in pediatric and young patients with cancer. Therapeutic LLLT also reduces the average severity of oral mucositis and oral pain.

de Lima et al. (2020) sought to determine the effectiveness of low-level laser therapy in preventing oral mucositis in patients undergoing chemoradiotherapy for head and neck cancer in a systematic review and meta-analysis. From 14,525 records, only 4 studies were included in the review and 3 studies were included in meta-analysis. Data from 500 patients (mean age of 53.595 and 54.14 for intervention and control groups, respectively) were analyzed. Meta-analysis showed that laser therapy prevents oral mucositis incidence in 28% and 23% of cases during the third and fourth follow-up week, respectively, in comparison to a placebo-treated control group. There was no statistically significant difference the prevention of pain. Dysphagia and quality of life were not analyzed due to missing data. The authors concluded that laser therapy was effective in preventing oral mucositis from the 15th to the 45th days of chemoradiotherapy. However, new primary studies with low risk of bias are needed so a higher level of scientific evidence can be obtained.

 Patel et al. (2021) updated the 2015 clinical practice guideline for the prevention of oral mucositis in pediatric cancer or hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) patients. They performed seven systematic reviews of mucositis prevention. Three reviews included randomized controlled trials (RCTs) conducted in pediatric and adult patients evaluating cryotherapy, keratinocyte growth factor (KGF) or photobiomodulation therapy with a focus on efficacy. Authors included 107 unique studies of cryotherapy (22 RCTs and 4 pediatric studies); KGF (15 RCTs and 12 pediatric studies); photobiomodulation therapy (29 RCTs and 8 pediatric studies) and any intervention (31 pediatric RCTs). Effect on severe mucositis reduction from RCTs was photobiomodulation therapy Risk Ratio 0.40 and 95% CI 0.27-0.60. Cryotherapy was not feasible in young children while photobiomodulation therapy was feasible across age groups. Relative to Intraoral photobiomodulation therapy (620-750 nm spectrum) only, this intervention should be used in pediatric patients undergoing autologous or allogeneic HSCT and for pediatric head and neck carcinoma patients undergoing radiotherapy.

Redman et al. (2022) assesses the efficacy of oral low-level laser therapy (LLLT) - also known as photobiomodulation - in the reduction of oral mucositis experienced by children and young people with cancer undergoing chemotherapy. Primary outcomes included severity of oral mucositis, oral pain and adverse events. 14 studies (n>416 children) were included in the narrative synthesis of LLLT efficacy. 5 studies (n=380 children and young people) were included in the meta-analyses. Results demonstrate that LLLT may reduce the severity of oral mucositis and the level of oral pain, but further randomized controlled

trials are needed to confirm or deny this. There is vast variation in different trial protocols. Insufficient blinding between LLLT or sham therapy/control led to a strong risk of performance bias. 75 studies (encompassing 2,712 patients of all ages who had undergone LLLT) demonstrated minor and infrequent adverse reactions, but most studies had significant areas of weakness in quality. Authors concluded that LLLT appears to be a safe therapy, but further evidence is needed to assess its efficacy as a prevention or treatment tool for oral mucositis in children with cancer.

Biala (2022) reviewed evidence on the effectiveness of LLLT using diode lasers on the prevention and reduction in severity of OM in patients with cancer undergoing HSCT. Six randomized controlled trials and one cohort study met the inclusion criteria. The author concluded that the data demonstrate promising outcomes for reducing the incidence and severity of OM using LLLT. Larger, tightly controlled clinical trials are needed in the future.

Franco et al. (2023) evaluated the efficacy of laser therapy in treating post-transplant mucositis in a systematic review and meta-analysis. There were 230 papers included in this review. Two hundred twenty-seven were excluded. Furthermore, a manual search was performed. After the search phase, three articles were considered in the study. The overall effect showed differences in the degree of mucositis in the laser-treated patients compared with the placebo group. The meta-analysis shows a reduction in the degree of mucositis in the patients treated with laser therapy. The application of laser therapy results in decreased severity of oral mucositis from radiation and chemotherapy. Authors conclude that their study shows that the application of low-level laser therapy in the treatment of transplant mucositis has excellent efficacy in relieving the symptoms and severity of mucositis.

Shen et al. (2024) explored the impact of PBMT on chemoradiotherapy (CRT)-induced OM in patients with head and neck cancer (HNC) in a meta-analysis. The study included a total of 14 RCTs encompassing 869 patients with HNC. The incidence of OM in the PBMT group was significantly lower from the second week onwards compared to the control group, and this was present until the seventh week. Furthermore, the occurrence of severe mucositis in the PBMT group decreased from the third week until the conclusion of the intervention. Additionally, PBMT showed beneficial effects in alleviating OM-related pain. The use of He-Ne or InGaAlP lasers with a power range of 10-25 mW demonstrated the most favorable outcomes in preventing and treating OM. PBMT has shown considerable efficacy in reducing the incidence, severity, and pain associated with OM in patients with HNC. Future studies are encouraged to further investigate the most effective parameters for PBMT in the management of OM.

Andriakopoulou et al. (2024) assessed the efficacy of current interventions and agents for the management of OM in children undergoing chemo/radiotherapy or hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT). The meta-analysis of two RCTs indicated that topical

application of honey on oral mucosa was effective in shortening the mean duration of hospital stay in children with severe OM. However, LLLT was not found to be effective for the prevention or treatment of OM grade  $\geq$ II. Moreover, the therapeutic application of LLLT did not show significant benefit for lower risk of OM grade  $\geq$ II.

4 5 6

7

8

9

10

1

2

3

### **Musculoskeletal Conditions**

Several studies have been published regarding LLLT for musculoskeletal conditions. Limitations of the studies included small study size, short follow-up time periods, and heterogeneity in terms of laser, dose, duration, and frequency of treatments (Dakowicz et al., 2011; Tascioglu et al., 2012; Konstantinovic et al., 2010; Ay et al., 2010; Oken et al., 2008; and Djavid et al., 2007).

11 12 13

14

15

16

17

18

19 20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

Clijsen et al. (2017) completed a systematic review and meta-analysis on the effects of low-level laser therapy on pain in patients with musculoskeletal disorders. A randomeffects model was used for this meta-analysis. Subgroup meta-analyses were conducted to evaluate the influence of the adherence of the applied LLLT to the World Association of Laser Therapy (WALT) guidelines, the anatomical site under investigation and the study design on the overall weighted mean effect size. Meta regression was used to assess the possible influence of the study quality on the individual study effect sizes. Eighteen studies allowing for 21 head-to-head comparisons (totaling n=1,462 participants) were included. The pooled raw mean difference (D) in pain between LLLT and the control groups was -0.85. There was high and significant between-study heterogeneity. The subgroup metaanalysis of the comparisons not following the WALT guidelines revealed a D = -0.68. In this group, heterogeneity decreased. In the WALT subgroup D equaled -1.52. This between groups difference was clinically relevant although statistically not significant. Authors conclude that this meta-analysis presents evidence that LLLT is an effective treatment modality to reduce pain in adult patients with musculoskeletal disorders. Adherence to WALT dosage recommendations seems to enhance treatment effectiveness.

28 29 30

31

32 33

34

The Royal Dutch Society for Physical Therapy (KNGF) issued a clinical practice guideline for physical therapists that addresses the assessment and treatment of patients with nonspecific neck pain, including cervical radiculopathy, in Dutch primary care. Recommendations were based on a review of published systematic reviews. The physical therapist is advised not to use dry needling, low-level laser, electrotherapy, ultrasound, traction, and/or a cervical collar (Bier et al., 2018).

353637

38 39

40

41

42

Song et al. (2018) investigated the effectiveness of high intensity laser therapy (HILT) for musculoskeletal disorders using a systematic review and meta-analysis. Twelve studies were selected for this systematic review. In 11 studies, comprising 736 patients, pain was significantly improved by HILT compared with a control group. From the analysis of 688 patients from 10 studies, HILT showed a significant improvement in disability scores compared with those in the control group. The results of this study show that HILT

treatment for back and neck pain significantly improved pain and disability scores compared with controls.

2 3 4

5

6

7

8

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19 20

21

1

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2021) completed an evidence review to explore the effectiveness of electrical physical modality interventions for chronic primary pain, including low level laser therapy. LLLT, was defined as the noninvasive application of a single wavelength of light to the skin over the injured area using a probe. When assessing LLLT versus sham laser therapy for quality of life, very low quality evidence from 6 studies with 276 participants showed a clinically important benefit of laser therapy compared to sham laser therapy at  $\leq 3$  months. Low to moderate quality evidence from 2 studies with 110 participants showed both a clinically important benefit of laser therapy (physical subscale) and no clinically important difference (mental subscale) compared to sham laser therapy at ≤3 months. Low quality evidence from 2 studies with 117 participants showed no clinically important difference compared to sham laser therapy at >3 months. For pain reduction, very low quality evidence from 13 studies with 558 participants showed a clinically important benefit of laser therapy compared to sham laser therapy at <3 months. Moderate quality evidence from 2 studies with 71 participants showed a clinically important benefit of laser therapy compared to sham laser therapy at >3 months. For Psychological distress, low to moderate quality evidence from 1 study with 44 participants showed no clinically important difference between laser therapy and sham laser therapy at  $\leq 3$  months. No evidence was identified for physical function, pain interference, pain self-efficacy, use of healthcare services, and sleep.

222324

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32 33

34

35

3637

38 39

40

DE Oliveira et al. (2022) presented the up-to-date evidence about the effects of lowintensity Light Amplification by Stimulated Emission of Radiation (LASER) and lightemitting diode (LED) (photobiomodulation therapy) on pain control of the most common musculoskeletal conditions. In the rehabilitation setting, patients benefit most when their health providers utilize a multimodal approach combining different types of therapies and when patients take on a significant role in optimal management of their own pain. The use of light as a therapeutic alternative form of medicine to manage pain and inflammation has been proposed to fill this void. LASER and LED have been shown to reduce inflammation and swelling, promote healing, and reduce pain for an array of musculoskeletal conditions. Authors note that there is evidence that photobiomodulation therapy reduces pain intensity in non-specific knee pain, osteoarthritis, pain post-total hip arthroplasty, fibromyalgia, temporomandibular diseases, neck pain, and low back pain. Therefore, the purpose of this paper was to present the up-to-dated evidence about the effects of low-intensity LASER and LED (photobiomodulation therapy) on pain control of the most common musculoskeletal conditions. Authors observed that the photobiomodulation therapy offers a non-invasive, safe, drug-free, and side-effect-free method for pain relief of both acute and chronic musculoskeletal conditions as well as fibromyalgia.

Saleh et al. (2024) evaluated the current evidence comparing low level to high level laser therapy to reveal any superiorities in the treatment of musculoskeletal disorders. Twelve articles were included in this systematic review with a total population of 704 participants across various musculoskeletal pathologies including tennis elbow, carpal tunnel syndrome, chronic non-specific low back pain, knee arthritis, plantar fasciitis, and subacromial impingement. There were no statistical differences between the two interventions in pain, electrophysiological parameters, level of disability, quality of life, postural sway or pressure algometer, however, Low level laser therapy showed superiority in increasing grip strength compared to high intensity laser therapy while results were significant in favor of high intensity laser therapy regarding long head of biceps diameter and cross sectional area, supraspinatus thickness and echogenicity and acromio-humeral distance. Authors concluded that the current literature suggests no superiority of both types of laser therapy in musculoskeletal disorders, however, more RCTs with larger sample size are required to reach a definitive conclusion regarding the superiority of either form of laser therapy in musculoskeletal disorders.

## Other

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10 11

12

13

14

15 16 17

18

19 20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32 33

34

35

36

37

38 39

40

41

42

An evidence-based guideline for the treatment of painful diabetic neuropathy published by American Academy of Neurology, the American Association of Neuromuscular and Electrodiagnostic Medicine, and the American Academy of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation (Bril et al., 2011) notes LLLT is probably not effective for the treatment of this condition and is not recommended. Wang et al. (2022) critically analyzed the evidence from existing systematic reviews investigating the effectiveness and safety of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) in patients with breast cancer-related lymphedema (BCRL). In addition, an updated and comprehensive systematic review was conducted, which aimed to provide updated evidence about this topic. Seven systematic reviews and ten RCTs met the eligibility criteria. Conflicting results regarding the effectiveness of LLLT were presented by the overview of systematic reviews. The AMSTAR 2 showed that the methodological quality of included systematic reviews was low or critically low quality due to one or more critical weaknesses. The GRADE and GRADE-CERQual showed that the evidence quality was low to very low for most outcomes. The updated systematic review showed that LLLT may offer additional benefits as compared to compression therapies (pneumatic compression or compression bandage), placebo laser, or no treatment for patients with BCRL. However, when compared to other types of active interventions, LLLT did not improve outcomes significantly. None of the treatment-related adverse event was reported. Many trials had a high or unclear risk of bias for two or more items, and our updated systematic review showed low quality of evidence per outcome using GRADE approach. Due to insufficient data and poor quality of evidence, there is uncertain to reach these conclusions that LLLT is superior to another active or negative intervention and is safe. More RCTs of high methodological quality, with large sample sizes and long-term follow-up, are needed to inform clinical guidelines and routine practice. Mahmood et al. (2022) also investigated the efficacy of clinical use of LLLT in the treatment of metastatic

breast cancer-related lymphedema. The primary objectives were arm circumference or arm volume, whereas the secondary goals were to assess shoulder mobility and pain severity. Eight clinical trials were analyzed in total. Typically, the included RCTs had good research quality. At four weeks, there was a considerable reduction in arm circumference/volume, and this continued with long-term follow-up. However, no statistically significant change in shoulder mobility or pain severity was seen between the laser and placebo groups at 0-, 1-, 2-, and 3-month short-term follow-up. According to authors and contradictory to the previous review, findings demonstrated that LLLT was successful in diminishing arm circumference and volume than improving shoulder mobility and pain. Based on their analysis, data indicated that laser therapy may be a beneficial treatment option for females with postmastectomy lymphedema. Because of the scarcity of evidence, there is a strong need for well-conducted and longer-duration trials in this field.

Chiu et al. (2023) aimed to organize existing research and determine the optimal combination of LLLT parameters for BCRL treatment in a meta-analysis. Authors focused on the aspects of the treatment area, treatment regimen, and total treatment sessions across the included studies. The comparisons between LLLT and non-LLLT were performed through a meta-analysis. Post-treatment quality of life (QOL) was significantly better in the axillary group. The group treated "three times/week with a laser density of 1.5-2 J/cm2" had significantly better outcomes in terms of swelling reduction, both immediately post-treatment and at 1-3 months follow-ups. The group with > 15 treatment sessions had significantly better post-treatment outcomes regarding reduced swelling and improved grip strength. According to these results, LLLT can relieve the symptoms of BCRL by reducing limb swelling and improving QOL. Further exploration found that a treatment approach targeting the axilla, combined with an increased treatment frequency, appropriate laser density, and extended treatment course, yielded better outcomes. However, further rigorous, large-scale studies, including long-term follow-up, are needed to substantiate this regimen.

Lutfallah et al. (2023) aimed to summarize current knowledge on the use of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) in managing acute pain. LLLT is a proposed alternative to control postoperative pain and acute pain compared to the use of medications. Studies included in this review included the following conditions: total knee arthroplasty, knee OA, low back pain, lumbar radiculopathy, root canal, removal of impacted molar, and neck/shoulder stiffness. Authors concluded that laser therapy should be considered an alternative to treating acute pain with more research needed to further evaluate the safety and efficacy. However, this review had several limitations. No statistical analysis was done, several studies included did not describe acute pain and also had methodological weakness, and there was a high degree of heterogeneity. Given this, conclusions should be considered with caution.

Alayat et al. (2024) investigated the effect of PBMT on pain, edema, and function in patients with an ankle sprain. The primary measured outcome was pain and function, and edema were secondary measured outcomes. Six studies (598 patients) were included in the review and five studies in the meta-analysis. There were two fair-quality and four good-quality studies, with a moderate level of evidence on pain, and a low level of evidence on edema and function. The meta-analysis revealed a significant overall effect of PBMT on pain with high effect size (ES), with a non-significant effect on edema and function with a medium ES on edema and low ES on function. Significant heterogeneity was observed in all measured outcomes with high heterogeneity in pain and edema and moderate heterogeneity in function. Authors concluded PBMT is effective for patients with an ankle sprain. PBMT showed high effect size with a moderate level of evidence on pain intensity. The lack of significant effects of PBMT on function and edema with low level of evidence limit the confidence to the current results.

## **U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA)**

Since 2002, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) granted 510(k) approval to several companies to market lasers that provide LLLT. The LLLT lasers are classified as class II devices under the physical medicine devices section as "Lamp, Non-heating, for Adjunctive Use in Pain Therapy."

Several devices that provide LLLT have been approved under the 501(k) approval process for various indications. These devices include but are not limited to:

- MicroLight 830<sup>TM</sup> (MicroLight Corporation of America, Missouri City, TX)
- Thor Laser System (Thor International Ltd, Amersham, UK)
- Luminex LL Laser System® (Medical Laser Systems, Inc, Branford CT)
- Vectra Genisys Laser System® (Chattanooga Group, Hixson, TN)

In the data submitted to the FDA as part of the FDA 510(k) approval process in 2002, the manufacturer of the MicroLight device conducted a double-blind, placebo-controlled study of 135 patients with moderate to severe symptoms of carpal tunnel syndrome who had failed conservative therapy for at least a month. However, the results of this study have not been published in the peer-reviewed literature, and only a short summary is available in the FDA Summary of Safety and Effectiveness, which does not permit scientific conclusions.

High power therapeutic laser systems granted FDA 510(k) approval as "Infrared lamp," for therapeutic healing and to provide topical heating for the purpose of elevating tissue temperature for temporary relief of minor muscle and joint pain, muscle spasm, pain and stiffness associated with minor arthritis, promoting relaxation of muscle tissue, and to temporarily increase local blood circulation. These devices include but are not limited to:

 Diawave Lasers (formerly Avicenna Laser Technology Inc.) (Riviera Beach, FL): Diowave Laser System, AVI HP-7.5, AVI HPLL-12

Page 37 of 57

• Zimmer MedizinSystems (Irvine, CA): OptonPro

## PRACTITIONER SCOPE AND TRAINING

Practitioners should practice only in the areas in which they are competent based on their education, training, and experience. Levels of education, experience, and proficiency may vary among individual practitioners. It is ethically and legally incumbent on a practitioner to determine where they have the knowledge and skills necessary to perform such services and whether the services are within their scope of practice.

It is best practice for the practitioner to appropriately render services to a member only if they are trained, equally skilled, and adequately competent to deliver a service compared to others trained to perform the same procedure. If the service would be most competently delivered by another health care practitioner who has more skill and training, it would be best practice to refer the member to the more expert practitioner.

Best practice can be defined as a clinical, scientific, or professional technique, method, or process that is typically evidence-based and consensus driven and is recognized by a majority of professionals in a particular field as more effective at delivering a particular outcome than any other practice (Joint Commission International Accreditation Standards for Hospitals, 2020).

Depending on the practitioner's scope of practice, training, and experience, a member's condition and/or symptoms during examination or the course of treatment may indicate the need for referral to another practitioner or even emergency care. In such cases it is prudent for the practitioner to refer the member for appropriate co-management (e.g., to their primary care physician) or if immediate emergency care is warranted, to contact 911 as appropriate. See the *Managing Medical Emergencies (CPG 159 – S)* clinical practices guideline for information.

## References

Abrisham SM, Kermani-Alghoraishi M, Ghahramani R, Jabbari L, Jomeh H, Zare M. Additive effects of low-level laser therapy with exercise on subacromial syndrome: a randomised, double-blind, controlled trial. Clinical Rheumatology 2011;30(10):1341-6

Abdildin Y, Tapinova K, Jyeniskhan N, Viderman D. High-intensity laser therapy in low back pain management: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Lasers Med Sci. 2023 Jul 26;38(1):166

Aceituno-Gómez J, Avendaño-Coy J, Gómez-Soriano J, García-Madero VM, Ávila-Martín G, Serrano-Muñoz D, González-González J, Criado-Álvarez JJ. Efficacy of high-

[	intensity laser therapy in subacromial impingement syndrome: a three-month follow-
2	up controlled clinical trial. Clin Rehabil. 2019 Jan 23:269215518824691

Ahmad MA, A Hamid MS, Yusof A. Effects of low-level and high-intensity laser therapy as adjunctive to rehabilitation exercise on pain, stiffness and function in knee osteoarthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Physiotherapy. 2022;114:85-95

6 7 8

9

5

Ahmad SA, Hasan S, Saeed S, Khan A, Khan M. Low-level laser therapy in temporomandibular joint disorders: a systematic review. J Med Life. 2021;14(2):148-164

10 11 12

Akkurt E, Kucuksen S, Yılmaz H, Parlak S, Sallı A, Karaca G. Long term effects of high intensity laser therapy in lateral epicondylitis patients. Lasers Med Sci. 2016 Feb;31(2):249-53

14 15 16

17

18

13

Alayat MSM, Battecha KH, Elsodany AM, et al. Effectiveness of Photobiomodulation Therapy in the Treatment of Myofascial Pain Syndrome of the Upper Trapezius Muscle: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Photobiomodul Photomed Laser Surg. 2022;40(10):661-674

19 20

Alayat MS, Takaroni A, Elsodany AM, AlMatrafi NA, Subahi MS, Battecha KH.
Effectiveness of photobiomodulation therapy in the treatment of patients with an ankle sprain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lasers Med Sci. 2024;39(1):116.
Published 2024 Apr 26

2526

Alfredo PP, Bjordal JM, Dreyer SH, Meneses SR, Zaguetti G, Ovanessian V, et al. Efficacy of low level laser therapy associated with exercises in knee osteoarthritis: a randomized double-blind study. Clin Rehabil. 2012 Jun;26(6):523-33. Epub 2011 Dec 14

28 29 30

31

32

27

Alfredo PP, Bjordal JM, Junior WS, Lopes-Martins RÁB, Stausholm MB, Casarotto RA, Marques AP, Joensen J. Long-term results of a randomized, controlled, double-blind study of low-level laser therapy before exercises in knee osteoarthritis: laser and exercises in knee osteoarthritis. Clin Rehabil. 2018 Feb;32(2):173-178

333435

Alfredo PP, Bjordal JM, Junior WS, Marques AP, Casarotto RA. Efficacy of low-level laser therapy combined with exercise for subacromial impingement syndrome: A randomised controlled trial. Clin Rehabil. 2021;35(6):851-860

373839

40

41

42

36

Al-Moraissi EA, Almaweri AA, Al-Tairi NH, Alkhutari AS, Grillo R, Christidis N. Treatments for painful temporomandibular disc displacement with reduction: a network meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2024 Jan;53(1):45-56. Epub 2023 Oct 4

l	Altuhafy M, Ahmed S, Jabr L, Khan J. Effectiveness of photobiomodulation and orofacial
2	myofunctional therapy in orofacial pain disorders. A systematic review of randomized
3	control trials. Lasers Med Sci. 2024;39(1):127. Published 2024 May 9
1	

6 7 American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons (AAOS). (2024). Carpal Tunnel Syndrome Clinical Practice Guideline. Retrieved on January 2, 2025 from https://www.aaos.org/quality/quality-programs/upper-extremity-programs/carpal-tunnel-syndrome/

8 9 10

Andriakopoulou CS, Yapijakis C, Koutelekos I, Perdikaris P. Prevention and Treatment of Oral Mucositis in Pediatric Patients: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. In Vivo. 2024;38(3):1016-1029

12 13

11

Ansari S, Charantimath S, Lagali-Jirge V, Keluskar V. Comparative efficacy of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) to TENS and therapeutic ultrasound in management of TMDs: a systematic review & meta-analysis. Cranio. 2024;42(6):752-761

17

Arora H, Pai KM, Maiya A, Vidyasagar MS, Rajeev A. Efficacy of He-Ne Laser in the prevention and treatment of radiotherapy-induced oral mucositis in oral cancer patients.
Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2008 Feb;105(2):180-6

21 22

23

Ay S, Doğan SK, Evcik D. Is low-level laser therapy effective in acute or chronic low back pain? Clin Rheumatol. 2010 Apr 23

2425

Bal A, Eksioglu E, Gurcay E, Gulec B, Karaahmet O, Cakci A. Low-level laser therapy subacromial impingement syndrome. Photomedicine and Laser Surgery 2009;27(1):31-6

272829

26

Beckmann KH, Meyer-Hamme G, Schröder S. Low level laser therapy for the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers: a critical survey. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med*. 2014;2014:626127

313233

34

30

Bekhet AH, Ragab B, Abushouk AI, Elgebaly A, Ali OI. Efficacy of low-level laser therapy in carpal tunnel syndrome management: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lasers Med Sci. 2017 Aug;32(6):1439-1448

353637

Biala M. Low-Level Laser Therapy: A Literature Review of the Prevention and Reduction of Oral Mucositis in Patients Undergoing Stem Cell Transplantation. Clin J Oncol Nurs. 2022;26(3):293-299

39 40 41

42

38

Bier JD, Scholten-Peeters WGM, Staal JB, Pool J, van Tulder MW, Beekman E, Knoop J, Meerhoff G, Verhagen AP. Clinical Practice Guideline for Physical Therapy

Assessment and Treatment in Patients With Nonspecific Neck Pain. Phys Ther. 2018 Mar 1;98(3):162-171

Bingol U, Altan L, Yurtkuran M. Low-power laser treatment for shoulder pain. Photomed Laser Surg. 2005 Oct;23(5):459-64

Bjordal JM, Bensadoun RJ, Tunèr J, Frigo L, Gjerde K, Lopes-Martins RA. A systematic review with meta-analysis of the effect of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) in cancer therapy-induced oral mucositis. Support Care Cancer. 2011 Aug;19(8):1069-77. Epub 2011 Jun 10

Bjordal JM, Couppe C, Chow RT, Tuner J, Ljunggren EA. A systematic review of low level laser therapy with location-specific doses for pain from chronic joint disorders. Aust J Physiother. 2003;49(2):107-16

Bjordal JM, Johnson MI, Lopes-Martins RA, Bogen B, Chow R, Ljunggren AE. Short-term efficacy of physical interventions in osteoarthritic knee pain. A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised placebo-controlled trials. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2007 Jun 22;8:51

Bjordal JM, Lopes-Martins RA, Iversen VV. A randomised, placebo controlled trial of low level laser therapy for activated Achilles tendinitis with microdialysis measurement of peritendinous prostaglandin E2 concentrations. Br J Sports Med. 2006 Jan;40(1):76-80

Bjordal JM, Lopes-Martins RA, Joensen J, Couppe C, Ljunggren AE, Stergioulas A, Johnson MI. A systematic review with procedural assessments and meta-analysis of low level laser therapy in lateral elbow tendinopathy (tennis elbow). BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2008 May 29;9:75

Blanpied PR, Gross AR, Elliott JM, Devaney LL, Clewley D, Walton DM, Sparks C, Robertson EK. Neck Pain: Revision 2017. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2017 Jul;47(7):A1-A83

Bril V, England J, Franklin GM, Backonja M, Cohen J, Del Toro D, et al.; American Academy of Neurology; American Association of Neuromuscular and Electrodiagnostic Medicine; American Academy of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. Evidence-based guideline: Treatment of painful diabetic neuropathy: report of the American Academy of Neurology, the American Association of Neuromuscular and Electrodiagnostic Medicine, and the American Academy of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. Neurology. 2011 May 17;76(20):1758-65

Brosseau L, Robinson V, Wells G, Debie R, Gam A, Harman K, et al. Low level laser therapy (Classes I, II and III) for treating rheumatoid arthritis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2005 Oct 19;(4):CD002049

4 5

Brosseau L, Welch V, et al. (2000). Low level laser therapy for osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis: a metaanalysis. J Rheumatol 27(8): 1961-9

6 7 8

9

Brosseau L, Welch V, Wells G, deBie R, Gam A, Harman K, et al. (2003). Low level laser therapy (Classes I, II and III) for treating osteoarthritis (Cochrane Review). In The Cochrane Library, Issue 2, Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

10 11

Brosseau L, Wells G, Marchand S, Gaboury I, Stokes B, Morin M, et al. Randomized controlled trial on low level laser therapy (LLLT) in the treatment of osteoarthritis (OA) of the hand. Lasers Surg Med. 2005 Mar;36(3):210-9

15 16

17

18

19

Busse JW, Casassus R, Carrasco-Labra A, Durham J, Mock D, Zakrzewska JM, Palmer C, Samer CF, Coen M, Guevremont B, Hoppe T, Guyatt GH, Crandon HN, Yao L, Sadeghirad B, Vandvik PO, Siemieniuk RAC, Lytvyn L, Hunskaar BS, Agoritsas T. Management of chronic pain associated with temporomandibular disorders: a clinical practice guideline. BMJ. 2023 Dec 15;383:e076227

202122

23

24

Butts R, Dunning J, Pavkovich R, Mettille J, Mourad F. Conservative management of temporomandibular dysfunction: A literature review with implications for clinical practice guidelines (Narrative review part 2). J Bodyw Mov Ther. 2017 Jul;21(3):541-548

252627

28

29

Cantero-Téllez R, Villafañe JH, Valdes K, García-Orza S, Bishop MD, Medina-Porqueres I. Effects of High-Intensity Laser Therapy on Pain Sensitivity and Motor Performance in Patients with Thumb Carpometacarpal Joint Osteoarthritis: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Pain Med. 2020 Oct 1;21(10):2357-2365

30 31 32

33

Carcia CR, Martin RL, Houck J, Wukich DK; Orthopaedic Section of the American Physical Therapy Association. Achilles pain, stiffness, and muscle power deficits: achilles tendinitis. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2010 Sep;40(9):A1-26

343536

Carrasco TG, Guerisoli LD, Guerisoli DM, Mazzetto MO. Evaluation of low intensity laser therapy in myofascial pain syndrome. *Cranio*. 2009;27(4):243-247

373839

40

41

42

Carvalho PA, Jaguar GC, Pellizzon AC, Prado JD, Lopes RN, Alves FA. Evaluation of low-level laser therapy in the prevention and treatment of radiation-induced mucositis: a double-blind randomized study in head and neck cancer patients. Oral Oncol. 2011 Dec;47(12):1176-81. Epub 2011 Sep 10

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. National Coverage Determination (NCD) for Infrared Therapy Devices (270.6). Retrieved on January 2, 2025 from https://www.cms.gov/medicare-coverage-database/details/ncd-details.aspx?NCDId=315

5 6

7

Chang WD, Lee CL, Lin HY, Hsu YC, Wang CJ, Lai PT. A Meta-analysis of Clinical Effects of Low-level Laser Therapy on Temporomandibular Joint Pain. J Phys Ther Sci. 2014;26(8):1297-300

8 9 10

Chauhan D, Sharma S. Adjunctive Approach to Therapeutic Laser and Exercise Therapies in Alleviating Pain and Disability in Patients with Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review. J Lifestyle Med. 2024;14(2):69-79

12 13

11

14 Cheung WKW, Wu IXY, Sit RWS, Ho RST, Wong CHL, Wong SYS, Chung VCH. Low-15 level laser therapy for carpal tunnel syndrome: systematic review and network meta-16 analysis. Physiotherapy. 2020 Mar;106:24-35. doi: 10.1016/j.physio.2019.06.005. 17 Epub 2019 Jun 20

18 19

20

Chiu ST, Lai UH, Huang YC, Leong CP, Chen PC. Effect of various photobiomodulation regimens on breast cancer-related lymphedema: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Lasers Med Sci. 2023 Dec 22;39(1):11

212223

Choi HW, Lee J, Lee S, Choi J, Lee K, Kim BK, Kim GJ. Effects of high intensity laser therapy on pain and function of patients with chronic back pain. J Phys Ther Sci. 2017 Jun;29(6):1079-1081

252627

28

29

30

24

Chou R, Deyo R, Friedly J, Skelly A, Hashimoto R, Weimer M, et al. Noninvasive Treatments for Low Back Pain. Comparative Effectiveness Review No. 169. (Prepared by the Pacific Northwest Evidence-based Practice Center under Contract No. 290-2012-00014-I.) AHRQ Publication No. 16-EHC004-EF. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; February 2016

313233

34

35

Chou R, Huffman LH; American Pain Society; American College of Physicians. Nonpharmacologic therapies for acute and chronic low back pain: a review of the evidence for an American Pain Society/American College of Physicians clinical practice guideline. Ann Intern Med. 2007 Oct 2;147(7):492-504

363738

39

40

41

Chou R, Qaseem A, Snow V, Casey D, Cross JT Jr, Shekelle P, Owens DK; Clinical Efficacy Assessment Subcommittee of the American College of Physicians; American Pain Society Low Back Pain Guidelines Panel. Diagnosis and treatment of low back pain: a joint clinical practice guideline from the

1	American College of Physicians and the American Pain Society. Ann Intern Med. 2007
2	Oct 2;147(7):478-91
3	
4	Chow RT, Johnson MI, Lopes-Martins RA, Bjordal JM. Efficacy of low-level laser therapy
5 6	in the management of neck pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised placebo or active-treatment controlled trials. Lancet. 2009 Dec 5;374(9705):1897-908
7	
8	Christie A, Jamtvedt G, Dahm KT, Moe RH, Haavardsholm EA, Hagen KB. Effectiveness
9	of nonpharmacological and nonsurgical interventions for patients with rheumatoic
10	arthritis: an overview of systematic reviews. Physical Therapy 2007;87(12):1697-715
11	
12	Clarkson JE, Worthington HV, Furness S, McCabe M, Khalid T, Meyer S. Interventions
13	for treating oral mucositis for patients with cancer receiving treatment. Cochrane
14	Database Syst Rev. 2010 Aug 4;(8):CD001973
15	
16 17	Clijsen R, Brunner A, Barbero M, Clarys P, Taeymans J. Effects of low-level laser therapy on pain in patients with musculoskeletal disorders. A systemic review and meta-
18	analysis. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2017 Jan 30
19	anarysis. Lar 3 i frys Renaon Wed. 2017 Jan 30
20	Cotler HB, Chow RT, Hamblin MR, Carroll J. The Use of Low Level Laser Therapy
21	(LLLT) For Musculoskeletal Pain. MOJ Orthop Rheumatol. 2015;2(5)
22	
23	Courville XF, Coe MP, Hecht PJ. Current concepts review: noninsertional Achilles
24	tendinopathy. Foot and Ankle International 2009;30(11):1132-42
25	Delveurier A. Kumilianum Mackel, A. Kaantuila Haina D. Mackel, D. Lataciaurier, D.
<ul><li>26</li><li>27</li></ul>	Dakowicz A, Kuryliszyn-Moskal A, Kosztyła-Hojna B, Moskal D, Latosiewicz R Comparison of the long-term effectiveness of physiotherapy programs with low-level
28	laser therapy and pulsed magnetic field in patients with carpal tunnel syndrome. Adv
29	Med Sci. 2011;56(2):270-4
30	Med 501. 2011,50(2).270 1
31	da Silva Mira PC, Biagini ACSCF, Gomes MG, Galo R, Corona SAM, Borsatto MC. Laser
32	acupuncture to reduce temporomandibular disorder (TMD) symptoms: systematic
33	review and meta-analysis. Lasers Med Sci. 2024;39(1):66. Published 2024 Feb 20
34	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
35	de la Barra Ortiz HA, Arias M, Meyer von Schauensee M, Liebano RE. Efficacy of High-
36	intensity laser therapy in patients with temporomandibular joint disorders: A systematic
37	review and meta-analysis. Lasers Med Sci. 2024;39(1):210. Published 2024 Aug 7

de Lima VHS, de Oliveira-Neto OB, da Hora Sales PH, da Silva Torres T, de Lima FJC.

review and meta-analysis. Oral Oncol. 2020;102:104524

Effectiveness of low-level laser therapy for oral mucositis prevention in patients

undergoing chemoradiotherapy for the treatment of head and neck cancer: A systematic

38

39

40

41

De Oliveira MF, Johnson DS, Demchak T, Tomazoni SS, Leal-Junior EC. Low-intensity
LASER and LED (photobiomodulation therapy) for pain control of the most common musculoskeletal conditions. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2022;58(2):282-289

4

de la Barra Ortiz HA, Parizotto N, Arias M, Liebano R. Effectiveness of high-intensity laser therapy in the treatment of patients with frozen shoulder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lasers Med Sci. 2023 Nov 20;38(1):266

7 8 9

10 11

6

de Oliveira-Souza AIS, Mohamad N, de Castro Carletti EM, Müggenborg F, Dennett L, de Oliveira DA, Armijo-Olivo S. What are the best parameters of low-level laser therapy to reduce pain intensity and improve mandibular function in orofacial pain? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Disabil Rehabil. 2023 Oct;45(20):3219-3237

12 13 14

15

de Pedro M, Lopez-Pintor RM, de la Hoz-Aizpurua JL, et al. Efficacy of low-level laser therapy for the therapeutic management of neuropathic orofacial pain: A systematic review. J Oral Facial Pain Headache. 2020;34(1):13–30

16 17 18

Dima R, Tieppo Francio V, Towery C, Davani S. Review of Literature on Low-level Laser Therapy Benefits for Nonpharmacological Pain Control in Chronic Pain and Osteoarthritis. Altern Ther Health Med. 2017 Oct 2. pii: AT5647

202122

23

19

Dingemanse R, Randsdorp M, Koes BW, Huisstede BM. Evidence for the effectiveness of electrophysical modalities for treatment of medial and lateral epicondylitis: a systematic review. Br J Sports Med. 2013;Jan 18

242526

27

28

29

30

Dion S, Wong JJ, Côté P, Yu H, Sutton D, Randhawa K, Southerst D, Varatharajan S, Stern PJ, Nordin M, Chung C, D'Angelo K, Dresser J, Brown C, Menta R, Ammendolia C, Shearer HM, Stupar M, Ameis A, Mior S, Carroll LJ, Jacobs C, Taylor-Vaisey A. Are Passive Physical Modalities Effective for the Management of Common Soft Tissue Injuries of the Elbow?: A Systematic Review by the Ontario Protocol for Traffic Injury Management (OPTIMa) Collaboration. Clin J Pain. 2017 Jan;33(1):71-86

313233

34

35

Djavid GE, Mehrdad R, Ghasemi M, Hasan-Zadeh H, Sotoodeh-Manesh A, Pouryaghoub G. In chronic low back pain, low level laser therapy combined with exercise is more beneficial than exercise alone in the long term: a randomised trial. Aust J Physiother. 2007;53(3):155-60

363738

39

40

Dogan SK, Ay S, and Evcik D. The effectiveness of low laser therapy in subacromial impingement syndrome: a randomized placebo controlled double-blind prospective study. Clinics. 2010;65(10): 1019-1022

1	Dong W, Goost H, Lin XB, Burger C, Paul C, Wang ZL, Zhang TY, Jiang ZC, Welle K,
2	Kabir K. Treatments for shoulder impingement syndrome: a PRISMA systematic
3	review and network meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2015 Mar;94(10):e510

6

Dostalova T, Hlinakova P, Kasparova M, Rehacek A, Vavrickova L, and Navratil L. Effectiveness of physiotherapy and GaAlAs laser in the management of dolytemporomandibular joint disorders. Photomed Laser Surg. 2012;30(5):275-280

7 8

Doyle AT, Lauber C, Sabine K. The Effects of Low-Level Laser Therapy on Pain
Associated With Tendinopathy: A Critically Appraised Topic. J Sport Rehabil. 2016
Feb;25(1):83-90

12

Ekim A, Armagan O, Tascioglu F, Oner C, Colak M. Effect of low level laser therapy in rheumatoid arthritis patients with carpal tunnel syndrome. Swiss Med Wkly. 2007 Jun 16;137(23-24):347-52

16 17

Elad S, Cheng KKF, Lalla RV, et al. MASCC/ISOO clinical practice guidelines for the management of mucositis secondary to cancer therapy [published correction appears in Cancer. 2021 Oct 1;127(19):3700]. Cancer. 2020;126(19):4423-4431

19 20

18

El Melhat AM, Youssef ASA, Zebdawi MR, Hafez MA, Khalil LH, Harrison DE. Non-Surgical Approaches to the Management of Lumbar Disc Herniation Associated with Radiculopathy: A Narrative Review. J Clin Med. 2024;13(4):974. Published 2024 Feb 8

2526

ElMeligie MM, Ismail MM, Gomaa YS, Yehia AM, Sakr HR, ElGendy OM. Effect of High-Intensity Laser Therapy on Carpal Tunnel Syndrome Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2024;103(11):979-985

28 29 30

27

Emanet SK, Altan LI, Yurtkuran M. Investigation of the effect of GaAs laser therapy on lateral epicondylitis. Photomed and Laser Surg. 2010;28(3):397-403

313233

Emshoff R, Bösch R, Pümpel E, Schöning H, Strobl H. Low-level laser therapy for treatment of temporomandibular joint pain: a double-blind and placebo-controlled trial. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2008 Apr;105(4):452-6

353637

34

Enwemeka, C. S., Parker J.C., et al. (2004). The efficacy of low-power lasers in tissue repair and pain control: a meta-analysis study. Photomed Laser Surg 22(4): 323-9

38 39 40

41

Ferlito JV, Silva CF, Almeida JC, da Silva Lopes IA, da Silva Almeida R, Leal-Junior ECP, De Marchi T. Effects of photobiomodulation therapy (PBMT) on the

1 2	management of pain intensity and disability in plantar fasciitis: systematic review and meta-analysis. Lasers Med Sci. 2023 Jul 18;38(1):163
3	
4	Fikácková H, Dostálová T, Navrátil L, Klaschka J. Effectiveness of low-level laser therapy
5	in temporomandibular joint disorders: a placebo-controlled study. Photomed Laser
6	Surg. 2007 Aug;25(4):297-303
7	
8	Flynn D. M. (2020). Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain: Nonpharmacologic, Noninvasive
9	Treatments. American family physician, 102(8), 465–477
10	
11	Franke TPC, Koes BW, Geelen SJG, Huisstede BMA. Do Patients with Carpal Tunnel
12	Syndrome Benefit from Low-Level Laser Therapy? A Systematic Review of
13	Randomized Controlled Trials. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2017 Jun 16. pii: S0003-
14	9993(17)30391-X
15	
16	Franco R, Lupi E, Iacomino E, Galeotti A, Capogreco M, Santos JMM, D'Amario M. Low-
17	Level Laser Therapy for the Treatment of Oral Mucositis Induced by Hematopoietic
18	Stem Cell Transplantation: A Systematic Review with Meta-Analysis. Medicina
19	(Kaunas). 2023 Aug 3;59(8):1413
20	
21	Glazov G, Yelland M, Emery J. Low-level laser therapy for chronic non-specific low back
22	pain: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Acupunct Med. 2016
23	Oct;34(5):328-341
24	
25	Gross AR, Dziengo S, Boers O, Goldsmith CH, Graham N, et al. Low Level Laser Therapy
26	(LLLT) for Neck Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Regression. Open Orthop J.
27	2013 Sep 20;7:396-419
28	
29	Guimarães JS, Arcanjo FL, Leporace G, et al. Effect of low-level laser therapy on pain and
30	disability in patients with plantar fasciitis: A systematic review and meta-analysis.
31	Musculoskelet Sci Pract. 2022;57:102478
32	
33	Guimarães JS, Arcanjo FL, Leporace G, Metsavaht LF, Conceição CS, Moreno MVMG,
34	Vieira TEM, Moraes CC, Gomes Neto M. Effects of therapeutic interventions on pain
35	due to plantar fasciitis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Rehabil. 2023
36	Jun;37(6):727-746. Epub 2022 Dec 26
37	

Haslerud S, Magnussen LH, Joensen J, Lopes-Martins RA, Bjordal JM. The efficacy of

analysis of randomized controlled trials. Physiother Res Int. 2015;20(2):108-25

low-level laser therapy for shoulder tendinopathy: a systematic review and meta-

38

39

Hao J, Yao Y, Remis A, Sun Y, Zhu D, Wu S. Effects of high-intensity laser therapy on subacromial impingement syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lasers Med Sci. 2024;39(1):240. Published 2024 Sep 25

4 5

He M, Zhang B, Shen N, Wu N, Sun J. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effect of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) on chemotherapy-induced oral mucositis in pediatric and young patients. Eur J Pediatr. 2018 Jan;177(1):7-17

7 8 9

10 11

12

6

Herpich CM, Amaral AP, Leal-Junior EC, Tosato Jde P, Gomes CA, Arruda ÉE, Glória IP, Garcia MB, Barbosa BR, Rodrigues MS, Silva KL, El Hage Y, Politti F, Gonzalez Tde O, Bussadori SK, Biasotto-Gonzalez DA. Analysis of laser therapy and assessment methods in the rehabilitation of temporomandibular disorder: a systematic review of the literature. J Phys Ther Sci. 2015;27(1):295-301

13 14

Huang Z, Chen J, Ma J, Shen B, Pei F, Kraus VB. Effectiveness of low-level laser therapy
 in patients with knee osteoarthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis.
 Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2015a Apr 23. pii: S1063-4584(15)01125-5

18 19

20

Huang Z, Ma J, Chen J, Shen B, Pei F, Kraus VB. The effectiveness of low-level laser therapy for nonspecific chronic low back pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2015b Dec 15;17:360

212223

24

Huang J, Chen J, Xiong S, Huang J, Liu Z. The effect of low-level laser therapy on diabetic foot ulcers: A meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Int Wound J. 2021;18(6):763-776. doi:10.1111/iwj.13577

252627

28

29

30

Hurwitz EL, Carragee EJ, van der Velde G, Carroll LJ, Nordin M, Guzman J, et al.; Bone and Joint Decade 2000-2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders. Treatment of neck pain: noninvasive interventions: results of the Bone and Joint Decade 2000-2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2008 Feb 15;33(4 Suppl):S123-52

313233

34

35

İnce S, Eyvaz N, Dündar Ü, Toktaş H, Yeşil H, Eroğlu S, Adar S. Clinical Efficiency of High-Intensity Laser Therapy in Patients With Cervical Radiculopathy: A 12-Week Follow-up, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2024 Jan 1;103(1):3-12

3637

Jamtvedt G, Dahm KT, Christie A, et al. Physical therapy interventions for patients with osteoarthritis of the knee: an overview of systematic reviews. *Phys Ther*. 2008;88(1):123-136

1 2	Jang H and Lee H. Meta-analysis of pain relief effects by laser irradiation on joint areas. Photomed Laser Surg. 2012;30(8):405-417
3	1 notonied Laser Surg. 2012,30(8).403-417
4	Jastifer JR, Catena F, Doty JF, Stevens F, Coughlin MJ. Low-Level Laser Therapy for the
5	Treatment of Chronic Plantar Fasciitis: A Prospective Study. Foot Ankle Int.
6	2014;35(6):566-571
7	
8	Joint Commission International. (2020). Joint Commission International Accreditation
9	Standards for Hospitals (7th ed.): Joint Commission Resources
10	
11	Kadhim-Saleh, A., Maganti, H., Ghert, M., Singh, S., & Farrokhyar, F. (2013). Is low-level
12	laser therapy in relieving neck pain effective? Systematic review and meta-analysis.
13	Rheumatology international, 1-9
14	
15	Kaskutas V, Snodgrass J. Occupational therapy practice guidelines for individuals with
16	work-related injuries and illnesses. Bethesda (MD): American Occupational Therapy
17	Association (AOTA); 2009
18	
19	Kheshie AR, Alayat MS, Ali MM. High-intensity versus low-level laser therapy in the
20	treatment of patients with knee osteoarthritis: a randomized controlled trial. Lasers Med
21	Sci. 2014 Jul;29(4):1371-6
22	
23	Kim GJ, Choi J, Lee S, Jeon C, Lee K. The effects of high intensity laser therapy on pain
24	and function in patients with knee osteoarthritis. J Phys Ther Sci. 2016
25	Nov;28(11):3197-3199
26	
27	Konstantinovic LM, Cutovic MR, Milovanovic AN, Jovic SJ, Dragin AS, Letic MDj, Miler
28	VM. Low-level laser therapy for acute neck pain with radiculopathy: a double-blind
29	placebo-controlled randomized study. Pain Med. 2010 Aug;11(8):1169-78
30	
31	Lalla RV, Bowen J, Barasch A, et al. MASCC/ISOO clinical practice guidelines for the
32	management of mucositis secondary to cancer therapy [published correction appears in
33	Cancer. 2015 Apr 15;121(8):1339]. Cancer. 2014;120(10):1453-1461
34	1 , ( , 1 , 1 , 1 , 1 , 1 , 1 , 1 , 1 ,
35	Lam LK, Cheing GL. Effects of 904-nm low-level laser therapy in the management of
36	lateral epicondylitis: A randomized controlled trial. Photomed Laser Surg. 2007;25:65-

Lauxen AC, Machado DR, Pereira DS, et al. Photobiomodulation in carpal tunnel

analysis. Lasers Med Sci. 2025;40(1):12. Published 2025 Jan 8

syndrome with pain, strength, and functionality analysis: a systematic review and meta-

37

38

39

40

41

Lian J, Mohamadi A, Chan JJ, Hanna P, Hemmati D, Lechtig A, Nazarian A. Comparative Efficacy and Safety of Nonsurgical Treatment Options for Enthesopathy of the Extensor Carpi Radialis Brevis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials. Am J Sports Med. 2018 Oct 31:363546518801914

6 7

8

Li ZJ, Wang Y, Zhang HF, Ma XL, Tian P, Huang Y. Effectiveness of low-level laser on carpal tunnel syndrome: A meta-analysis of previously reported randomized trials. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016 Aug;95(31):e4424

9 10

Liu H, Ya-Qing X, Cai-Feng Y, Jia-Li H, Xian-Yu T. Diabetic foot wound ulcer management by laser therapy: A meta-analysis. Int Wound J. 2023 Dec;20(10):4208-4216. Epub 2023 Aug 18

14

Lourinho I, Sousa T, Jardim R, Pinto AC, Iosimuta N. Effects of low-level laser therapy in adults with rheumatoid arthritis: A systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled trials. PLoS One. 2023 Sep 8;18(9):e0291345

18 19

20

21

Lutfallah S, Wajid I, Sinnathamby ES, Maitski RJ, Edinoff AN, Shekoohi S, Cornett EM, Urman RD, Kaye AD. Low-Level Laser Therapy for Acute Pain: A Comprehensive Review. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2023 Oct;27(10):607-613. Epub 2023 Aug 14. PMID: 37578732

222324

25

26

Mahmood D, Ahmad A, Sharif F, Arslan SA. Clinical application of low-level laser therapy (Photo-biomodulation therapy) in the management of breast cancer-related lymphedema: a systematic review. BMC Cancer. 2022;22(1):937. Published 2022 Aug 30

272829

Maia ML, Bonjardim LR, Quintans Jde S, Ribeiro MA, Maia LG, Conti PC. Effect of low-level laser therapy on pain levels in patients with temporomandibular disorders: a systematic review. J Appl Oral Sci. 2012 Nov-Dec;20(6):594-602

313233

34

35

30

Malik S, Sharma S, Dutta N, Khurana D, Sharma RK, Sharma S. Effect of low-level laser therapy plus exercise therapy on pain, range of motion, muscle strength, and function in knee osteoarthritis - a systematic review and meta-analysis. Somatosens Mot Res. 2023 Mar;40(1):8-24. Epub 2022 Dec 28

3637

Martimbianco ALC, Ferreira RES, Latorraca COC, Bussadori SK, Pacheco RL, Riera R. Photobiomodulation with low-level laser therapy for treating Achilles tendinopathy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Rehabil. 2020 Jun;34(6):713-722

Mathur RK, Sahu K, Saraf S, Patheja P, Khan F, Gupta PK. Low-level laser therapy as an 1 adjunct to conventional therapy in the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers. Lasers Med 2 3 Sci. 2017 Feb;32(2):275-282 4 McNeely ML, Arm ijo Olivo S, Magee DJ. A systematic review of the effectiveness of

5

physical therapy interventions for temporomandibular disorders. Phys Ther. 2006 6 May;86(5):710-25 7

8 9

10 11 Meireles SM, Jones A, Jennings F, Suda AL, Parizotto NA, Natour J. Assessment of the effectiveness of low-level laser therapy on the hands of patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a randomized double-blind controlled trial. Clinical Rheumatology 2010;29(5):501-9

12 13 14

15

Michener, LA, Walsworth, MK, Burnet EN. Effectiveness of rehabilitation for patients with Subacromial impingement syndrome: a systematic review. Journal of Hand Therapy. 2004;17(2):152-164

16 17 18

19 20 Naterstad IF, Joensen J, Bjordal JM, Couppé C, Lopes-Martins RAB, Stausholm MB. Efficacy of low-level laser therapy in patients with lower extremity tendinopathy or plantar fasciitis: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ Open. 2022;12(9):e059479. Published 2022 Sep 28

21 22 23

24

25

National Guideline Centre (UK). Evidence review for electrical physical modalities for chronic primary pain: Chronic pain (primary and secondary) in over 16s: assessment of all chronic pain and management of chronic primary pain. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE); April 2021

26 27 28

29

30

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management. NICE guideline [NG59] Published date: November 2016. Retrieved January 2, 2025 from on https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng59

31 32 33

34

Oken O, Kahraman Y, Ayhan F, Canpolat S, Yorgancioglu ZR, Oken OF. The short-term efficacy of laser, brace, and ultrasound treatment in lateral epicondylitis: a prospective, randomized, controlled trial. J Hand Ther. 2008 Jan-Mar;21(1):63-7

35 36 37

38 39

Oliveira S, Andrade R, Valente C, et al. Effectiveness of Photobiomodulation in Reducing Pain and Disability in Patients With Knee Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review With Meta-Analysis. Phys Ther. 2024;104(8):pzae073

Ottawa	panel	evidence-based	clinical	practice	guidelines	for	electrotherapy	and
theri	mothera	py interventions:	in the ma	nagement	of rheumato	id ar	thritis in adults.	Phys
Ther	: 2004;	84:1016-1043						

6

1 2

Patel P, Robinson PD, Baggott C, et al. Clinical practice guideline for the prevention of oral and oropharyngeal mucositis in pediatric cancer and hematopoietic stem cell transplant patients: 2021 update. Eur J Cancer. 2021;154:92-101

7 8

Pereira Alfredo P et al. Efficacy of low level laser therapy associated with exercises in knee osteoarthritis: a randomized double-blind study. Clin Rehabil. 2011;26(6):523-533

11 12

13

Pereira da Silva, J., Alves da Silva, M., Almeida, A., Lombardi, I., Matos, A (2010). Laser Therapy in the Tissue Repair Process: A Literature Review. Photomedicine and Laser Surgery, 28(1), 17-21

141516

17

18

Peter WF, Jansen MJ, Hurkmans EJ, Bloo H, Dekker J, Dilling RG, et al.; Guideline Steering Committee - Hip and Knee Osteoarthritis. Physiotherapy in hip and knee osteoarthritis: development of a practice guideline concerning initial assessment, treatment and evaluation. Acta Reumatol Port. 2011 Jul-Sep;36(3):268-81

19 20

Peters S, Page MJ, Coppieters MW, Ross M, Johnston V. Rehabilitation following carpal tunnel release. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2013;(6):CD004158. Published 2013 Jun 5

2425

Peters S, Page MJ, Coppieters MW, Ross M, Johnston V. Rehabilitation following carpal tunnel release. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016 Feb 17;2:CD004158

262728

29

Petrucci A, Sgolastra F, Gatto R, Mattei A, Monaco A. Effectiveness of low-level laser therapy in temporomandibular disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Orofac Pain. 2011 Fall;25(4):298-307

30 31

32 33

34

Pieters L, Lewis J, Kuppens K, Jochems J, Bruijstens T, Joossens L, Struyf F. An Update of Systematic Reviews Examining the Effectiveness of Conservative Physical Therapy Interventions for Subacromial Shoulder Pain. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2020 Mar;50(3):131-141. Epub 2019 Nov 15

353637

Plener J, Csiernik B, To D, da Silva-Oolup S, Hofkirchner C, Cox J, Cancelliere C, Chow N, Hogg-Johnson S, Ammendolia C. Conservative Management of Cervical Radiculopathy: A Systematic Review. Clin J Pain. 2023 Mar 1;39(3):138-146

39 40 41

42

38

Rayegani S, Bahrami M, Samadi B, Sedighipour L, Mokhtarirad M, Eliaspoor D. Comparison of the effects of low energy laser and ultrasound in treatment of shoulder

1 2	myofascial pain syndrome: a randomized single-blinded clinical trial. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2011 Sep;47(3):381-9
3	
4 5	Reddy, G. K. (2004). Photobiological basis and clinical role of low-intensity lasers in biology and medicine. J Clin Laser Med Surg 22(2): 141-50
6	
7	Redman MG, Harris K, Phillips BS. Low-level laser therapy for oral mucositis in children
8	with cancer. Arch Dis Child. 2022;107(2):128-133
9	
10	Ren H, Liu J, Liu Y, Yu C, Bao G, Kang H. Comparative effectiveness of low-level laser
11	therapy with different wavelengths and transcutaneous electric nerve stimulation in the
12	treatment of pain caused by temporomandibular disorders: A systematic review and
13	network meta-analysis. J Oral Rehabil. 2022;49(2):138-149
14	
15	Rocha Júnior, Adeir Moreira, et al. Effects of low-level laser therapy on the progress of
16	wound healing in humans: the contribution of in vitro and in vivo experimental
17	studies. Jornal Vascular Brasileiro 6.3 (2007): 257-265
18	
19	Saha S, Smith MEB, Totten A, et al. Pressure Ulcer Treatment Strategies: Comparative
20	Effectiveness. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US), Rockville (MD);
21	2013. PMID: 23785727.
22	
23	Saleh MS, Shahien M, Mortada H, et al. High-intensity versus low-level laser in
24	musculoskeletal disorders. Lasers Med Sci. 2024;39(1):179. Published 2024 Jul 11
25	
26	Salmos-Brito JA, de Menezes RF, Teixeira CE, Gonzaga RK, Rodrigues BH, Braz R,
27	Bessa-Nogueira RV, Gerbi ME. Evaluation of low level laser therapy in patients with
28	acute and chronic temporomandibular disorders. Lasers Med Sci. 2013;28(1):57-64
29	
30	Shen B, Zhou Y, Wu D, Liu J. Efficacy of photobiomodulation therapy in the management
31	of oral mucositis in patients with head and neck cancer: A systematic review and meta-
32	analysis of randomized controlled trials. Head Neck. 2024;46(4):936-950
33	
34	Shiri R, Viikari-Juntura E. Low-level laser therapy for neck pain. Lancet.
35	2010;375(9716):721-2
36	
37	Sims SE, Miller K, Elfar JC, Hammert WC. Non-surgical treatment of lateral epicondylitis:
38	a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Hand (NY). 2014;9(4):419-46
39	

Skelly AC, Chou R, Dettori JR, Turner JA, Friedly JL, Rundell SD, Fu R, Brodt ED,

Wasson N, Winter C, Ferguson AJR. Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for

40

1	Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review [Internet]. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare
2	Research and Quality (US); 2018 Jun

5

6

7

Skelly AC, Chou R, Dettori JR, Turner JA, Friedly JL, Rundell SD, Fu R, Brodt ED, Wasson N, Kantner S, Ferguson AJR. Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review Update [Internet]. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2020 Apr. Report No.: 20-EHC009. PMID: 32338846

8 9 10

Song HJ, Seo HJ, Lee Y, Kim SK. Effectiveness of high-intensity laser therapy in the treatment of musculoskeletal disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Medicine (Baltimore). 2018 Dec;97(51):e13126

12 13 14

15

11

Song HJ, Seo HJ, Kim D. Effectiveness of high-intensity laser therapy in the management of patients with knee osteoarthritis: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil. 2020;33(6):875-884

16 17

Stergioulas A, Stergioula M, Aarskog R, Lopes-Martins RA, Bjordal JM. Effects of lowlevel laser therapy and eccentric exercises in the treatment of recreational athletes with chronic achilles tendinopathy. Am J Sports Med. 2008;36:881-887

21 22

23

Tanhan A, Ozer AY, Polat MG. Efficacy of different combinations of physiotherapy techniques compared to exercise and patient education in temporomandibular disorders: A randomized controlled study. Cranio. 2023 Jul;41(4):389-401

242526

Taradaj J, et al. Early and long-term results of physical methods in the treatment of venous leg ulcers: randomized controlled trial. Phlebology 2011;26(6):237-45

272829

30

Tascioglu F, Degirmenci NA, Ozkan S, Mehmetoglu O. Low-level laser in the treatment of carpal tunnel syndrome: clinical, electrophysiological, and ultrasonographical evaluation. Rheumatol Int. 2012 Feb;32(2):409-15

313233

34

35

36

Tehrani MR, Nazary-Moghadam S, Zeinalzadeh A, Moradi A, Mehrad-Majd H, Sahebalam M. Efficacy of low-level laser therapy on pain, disability, pressure pain threshold, and range of motion in patients with myofascial neck pain syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Lasers Med Sci. 2022;37(9):3333-3341

373839

40

41 42 Tournavitis A, Sandris E, Theocharidou A, Slini T, Kokoti M, Koidis P, Tortopidis D. Effectiveness of conservative therapeutic modalities for temporomandibular disorders-related pain: a systematic review. Acta Odontol Scand. 2023 May;81(4):286-297. Epub 2022 Nov 10

1 2 3	Toward Optimized Practice. Guideline for the evidence-informed primary care management of low back pain. Edmonton (AB): Toward Optimized Practice; 2011
4 5 6	Trudel D, Duley J, Zastrow I, Kerr EW, Davidson R, MacDermid JC. Rehabilitation for patients with lateral epicondylitis: A systematic review. J Hand Ther. 2004;17:243-266
7	Tumilty S, Munn J, Abbott JH, McDonough S, Hurley DA, Baxter GD. Laser therapy in
8	the treatment of achilles tendinopathy: a pilot study. Photomedicine and Laser Surgery
9	2008;26(1):25-30
10	2000,20(1).25 50
11	Valdes K, Marik T. A systematic review of conservative interventions for osteoarthritis of
12	the hand. Journal of Hand Therapy 2010;23(4):334-50
13	the hands tournar of Fland Therapy 2010,25(1),65 1 50
14	Verhagen AP, Schellingerhout JM. Low-level laser therapy for neck pain. Lancet
15	2010;375(9716):721; author reply 722
16	,
17	Vlassov VV, MacLehose HG. Low level laser therapy for treating tuberculosis. Cochrane
18	Database Syst Rev. 2006 Apr 19;(2):CD003490
19	
20	Wang Y, Ge Y, Xing W, et al. The effectiveness and safety of low-level laser therapy on
21	breast cancer-related lymphedema: An overview and update of systematic reviews.
22	Lasers Med Sci. 2022;37(3):1389-1413
23	
24	Weber C, Thai V, Neuheuser K, Groover K, Christ O. Efficacy of physical therapy for the
25	treatment of lateral epicondylitis: a meta-analysis. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2015
26	Aug 25;16:223
27	
28	Wellington J. Noninvasive and alternative management of chronic low back pain (efficacy
29	and outcomes). Neuromodulation. 2014;17 Suppl 2:24-30
30	
31	Wong JJ, Shearer HM, Mior S, Jacobs C, Côté P, Randhawa K, et al. Are manual therapies,
32	passive physical modalities, or acupuncture effective for the management of patients
33	with whiplash-associated disorders or neck pain and associated disorders? An update
34	of the Bone and Joint Decade Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders
35	by the OPTIMa collaboration. Spine J. 2016 Dec;16(12):1598-1630
36	
37	World Association of Laser Therapy (WALT). Consensus agreement on the design and
38	conduct of clinical studies with low-level laser therapy and light therapy for

musculoskeletal pain and disorders. Photomed Laser Surg. 2006;24:761-762

1	White AR, Rampes	H, Liu J	P, Stead	LF, Campb	oell J. A	cupuncti	ure and	related
2	interventions for	smoking	cessation.	Cochrane	Database	Syst	Rev. 20	011 Jan
3	19;(1):CD000009							

Xu GZ, Jia J, Jin L, Li JH, Wang ZY, Cao DY. Low-Level Laser Therapy for Temporomandibular Disorders: A Systematic Review with Meta-Analysis. Pain Res Manag. 2018 May 10;2018:4230583

7 8

6

Yadav S, Sharma S, Chatterjee S, Sharma A, Thakur S. Effect of LASER therapy on plantar
 fasciitis pain: illuminating a promising treatment approach - a systematic review.
 Lasers Med Sci. 2025;40(1):18. Published 2025 Jan 15

12 13

14

Ye L, Kalichman L, Spittle A, Dobson F, Bennell K. Effects of rehabilitative interventions on pain, function and physical impairments in people with hand osteoarthritis: a systematic review. Arthritis Res Ther. 2011 Feb 18;13(1):R28

15 16

Yoon SH, Huh BK, Abdi S, Javed S. The efficacy of high-intensity laser therapy in wound healing: a narrative review. Lasers Med Sci. 2024;39(1):208. Published 2024 Aug 3

19 20

Yousefi-Nooraie R, Schonstein E, Heidari K, Rashidian A, Pennick V, Akbari-Kamrani M, et al. Low level laser therapy for nonspecific low-back pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2008 Apr 16;(2):CD005107

222324

21

Youssef EF, Muaidi QI, Shanb AA. Effect of Laser Therapy on Chronic Osteoarthritis of the Knee in Older Subjects. J Lasers Med Sci. 2016 Spring;7(2):112-9

252627

28

29

Yu H, Côté P, Shearer HM, Wong JJ, Sutton DA, Randhawa KA, et al. Effectiveness of passive physical modalities for shoulder pain: systematic review by the Ontario protocol for traffic injury management collaboration. Phys Ther. 2015 Mar;95(3):306-18

30 31

Yu H, Randhawa K, Côté P, Optima Collaboration. The Effectiveness of Physical Agents
 for Lower-Limb Soft Tissue Injuries: A Systematic Review. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.
 2016 Jul;46(7):523-54

35

Zhang J, Zhong S, Tan T, Li J, Liu S, Cheng R, Tian L, Zhang L, Wang Y, Liu F, Zhou P,
 Ye X. Comparative Efficacy and Patient- Specific Moderating Factors of Nonsurgical
 Treatment Strategies for Frozen Shoulder: An Updated Systematic Review and
 Network Meta-analysis. Am J Sports Med. 2020 Sep 17:363546520956293

Zhang Y, Qian Y, Huo K, Liu J, Huang X, Bao J. Efficacy of laser therapy for temporomandibular disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Complement Ther Med. 2023 Jun;74:102945. Epub 2023 Mar 28

3 4 5

6

7

1 2

Zhang J, Zhao Y, Zhao X, Zhang J, Jing L. Efficacy and safety of red and infrared light in the adjunctive treatment on diabetic foot ulcers: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Complement Ther Clin Pract. 2024;57:101906